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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH
ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware
of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors. Given
the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a
risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible
to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the
Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors” or individually
a “Director”) of Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited (the
“Company’) collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge
and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive,
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Company Announcements”
page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for at least seven
days from the date of its publication and on the website of the
Company at http.//www.aplushk.com/clients/8299GrandTG/.

The English text of this report shall prevail over the Chinese text
in case of inconsistencies.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTREIRS

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of Grand T G Gold
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”), hereby presents the Company’s

annual report for the year ended 31 March 2012.

In view of the conditional approval for resumption of trading
granted by the Listing Appeals Committee as detailed in the
subsection headed “Post balance sheet events® in the section
headed “Report of the Directors”, the New Board (as defined
in the subsection headed “Material Change in the Management
Team of the Company” in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report”) is intensifying its effort to implement the
Resumption Proposal (as defined in the section headed “Report
of the Directors”), which include an open offer (the “Open Offer”),
debt capitalisation, debt settlement and release of all outstanding
financial results, so as to fulfill the Conditions (as defined in the
section headed “Report of the Directors”) as soon as possible for

resumption in trading of the shares of the Company (“Share(s)”).

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 21
July 2016 and 7 December 2016, the Company will conduct the
Open Offer on the basis of 1 offer Share for each two existing
Shares held at a price of not more than HK$0.02 for each offer
Share in order to raise gross proceeds of approximately HK$100
million to HK$130 million. The Company will utilise the net
proceeds of the Open Offer for settlement of its indebtedness
and as working capital of the Group. Meanwhile, certain debts
will be capitalised and settled by way of issue of new Shares
and/or convertible bonds at not more than HK$0.02 per new
Share. The Company expects that upon completion of the
Resumption Proposal, the financial position, net assets value and

cash flow of the Group will be significantly improved.
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APPRECIATION

We would like to take this opportunity to express the New
Board’s sincere gratitude to all shareholders, investors, bankers,
business associates and customers for their continuous support
to the Group, and to all staff members for their hard work and

contributions during the past year.
On behalf of the Board
Li Dahong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 February 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEREmX DR

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in gold exploration, mining

and mineral processing with gold concentrate as its product.

In the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group continued the
business model of last year, i.e. obtaining asset backing finance
from financier with its inventories pledged as collaterals for its
development. As such, the Group recorded no revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2012 (2011: Nil) while at the same time,
the property (mostly exploration and mining tunnels and inclined
mining shafts), plant and equipment of the Group increased by
approximately HK$64.4 million to approximately HK$385.0 million
as at 31 March 2012. Respective state of affairs of the Group is
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 46 to
140 of this report.

Consolidated loss of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$64.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2012 (2011: loss
of approximately HK$1,467.9 million). Basic loss per share was
approximately HK cents 0.41 for the year ended 31 March 2012
(2011: loss of HK cents 11.94). There will be no payment of
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2012 (2011: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FUNDING

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
and net current liabilities amounted to approximately HK$1.5
HK$1.9 million
and HK$70.3 million) respectively. The Group generally financed

million and approximately HK$8.0 million (2011:

its operating activities with internally generated cash flow as well
as borrowings as detailed in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements. Since inventories of the Company’s operating
subsidiary, J& B & KM #& % B R & £ 2 7] Tongguan Taizhou
Mining Company Limited* (“Taizhou Mining”), were pledged to
one of the financiers of Taizhou Mining rather than for sale, the
Group’s inventories had increased from HK$24.5 million as at 31
March 2011 to approximately HK$52.6 million as at 31 March
2012.

As at 31 March 2012, the current ratio is 0.92 (2011: 0.50).

As at 31 March 2012,
approximately 53% (31 March 2011: 24%), which was calculated

the Group’s gearing ratio was

based on total borrowings over total assets.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2012, the Group’s bank borrowings were
secured by the mining right owned by the Group whereas its
long term loans were secured by the inventories of the Group’s

operating subsidiary, Taizhou Mining.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEmX D

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RISKS

Since the Group’s borrowings and its source of income are
primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi, the

exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations is minimal.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the year under view, the Group partially disposed of
its investment in Apex Minerals NL, a company listed on the
Australian Stock Exchange, and realised a loss on disposal of

approximately HK$10.4 million.

Between 2009 and 2010, the Company entered into a series
of memorandum of understanding and Agreements with the
vendors in relation to the Company’s proposed acquisition of
equity interest in the target companies in Henan Province and

paid to the vendors earnest monies totaling HK$13.05 million.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

POLICIES

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had 126 employees (2011:
124) situated mainly in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Group’s
emoluments policies are formulated based on industry practices
and performance of individual employees. For the year ended
31 March 2012, the total staff costs (including directors’
emoluments) amounted to approximately HK$12.3 million
(2011: HK$13.1 million). During the year ended 31 March
2012, no share option had been granted by the Company.
Details of employees’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MINERAL EXPLORATION, MINE
DEVELOPMENT AND ORE MINING
ACTIVITIES

Mineral Exploration and Mine Development

During the year under review, Taizhou Mining mainly completed
certain mining development projects, including the excavation of
approximately 15,955 meters of various tunnels, excavation of
approximately 1,276 meters of slope supporting, excavation of
approximately 1,915 meters of ore chute as well as excavation of

approximately 3,127 meters for track laying and ditches.

During the year under review, the Group’s total expenditure for
the mine development and mineral exploration amounted to

approximately HK$65.9 million.

Ore Mining
During the year under review, the aggregate expenditure on the
ore mining operation of the Group was approximately HK$7.2

million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEmRZ DM

RESOURCES AND RESERVES

Based on the findings of the report prepared by SRK Consulting
China Limited (Note) based on the JORC Code 2012:

1. As of 31 March 2012, using a gold cut-off grade of 1.0 g/t,
the indicated resource and inferred resource of the Group

ERRREE
B SRK Consulting China Limited (#7:) &
FBJORCERAI (ZTE—Z—ZFWR) BB ZRE 24

AL
afg -

1, BE-ZE——F#=A=+—0 #MA1.0%
¢ MERRMAE AEEBNTHE

were: RENEHERESR:
Contained
Inventory Grade metal
7E m 1z esh
(gram per (kilogram,
(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)
(FmE) (m&ami &z) (F2 #z)
Indicated resource THERE 1,807 7.73 14,665
Inferred resource HEHERE 1,555 6.60 10,269

2. As of 31 March 2012, under a cut-off grade of 1.9 gram per
tonne, the estimated probable reserves of the Group were:

2. RZE—Z—F=A=+—H EBE19%5=
© /W RMALETE - AN B (EETTE AT
HEA:

Contained

Inventory Grade metal

78 m 1z 2

(gram per (kilogram,

(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)

(FE) (& £g%) (T2 Ez)

Probable reserves AR ERFE 5.60 4.49 2,577
Note: Bt -

SRK Consulting China Limited is an international renounced reputable
technical adviser in mining industry. It has prepared competent person’s
reports for a number of companies for the purpose of initial public offering
(IPO) and mergers and acquisitions exercises in Hong Kong, the PRC and

Singapore.
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Biographical Details of Existing Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Li Dahong

Dr. Li, aged 58, joined the Company as director on 24 February
2016. Dr. Li also serves as a director of X #ER & (1L R)E
2L EBEB AR AR (SSC Sino Gold*) and Taizhou Mining,
respectively. He has over 10 years of experience in investment

banking, mergers and acquisitions and other financial activities.

Dr. Li is now the managing partner of F/BZBIREEEGR
‘A A](Shanghai Ming Ji Investment Management Ltd.*) and the
managing director of Vision Capital Partners Limited ( X2 &
AR AR]) . Dr. Li graduated from Tsinghua University in civil and
environmental engineering and received a degree in Doctor of

Philosophy from the University of Toronto, Canada.

Mr. Feng Jun

Mr. Feng, aged 54, joined the Company as director on 24
February 2016. Mr. Feng is the legal representative and director
of XEFRE (LF)EXKREBEMABR A7 (SSC Sino Gold*)
and Taizhou Mining, respectively. He is also the sole director of
SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and T G Mining Asia
Limited, the intermediate holding companies of Taizhou Mining.
He graduated from BR7E B A&X 20t & B E % (Shaanxi Institute of
Finance and Economics*) in 1998 and completed a postgraduate
degree in Western Economics. Mr. Feng obtained his accountant
qualification in the PRC in 1993. He has also been accredited
with Qualification of Securities Practitioner in the PRC in 1996
and had received trainings in securities trading business in the
PRC between 1992 and 2004.
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Biographical Details of Existing Directors and Senior Management

RISESKEHEEAEBREE

Mr. Jiang Zhiyong

Mr. Jiang, aged 60, joined the Company as director on 24
February 2016. He worked as a manager in FF B XA R A R A 7]
(China Natural Gas Company Limited*) from 1992 to 2002.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Ma Xiaona

Ms. Ma, aged 41, joined the Company as director on 24 March
2016. Ms. Ma also serves as a director of XEF & (ILR)E
¥ EBEBAR AR (SSC Sino Gold*) and Taizhou Mining,
respectively. She graduated from Hua Dong Polytechnic
University and received her Bachelor degree in English for

Business (International Business) in 1998.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jiang Quanming

Mr. Jiang Quanming, aged 54, joined the Company as director
on 24 February 2016. He graduated from Peking University in
1984 with a degree in Political Economics. In 2008, he graduated
from the Beijing Normal University with a doctoral degree in
business administration. He became a member of the China
Futures Association in 2009. Mr. Jiang was accredited with the
teacher qualification in economics by the Education Department

of Shaanxi Provincial Government in 2006.

Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Guo Wei, aged 62, joined the Company as director on 28
April 2016. He is currently the chairman of #iTiz L EHFR A
Bl (Zhejiang Ruifeng Investment Company Limited*). From 1983
to 1988, he worked in Huaxin Consulting Co. Ltd. (¥E{Z4 %
FTHZEBT AR AF)) . He was the chairman and director of #
MAEKERE (Hangzhou Wuyun Investment Company*) from
2002 to 2005. He was appointed the manager of #1 /1 £ Bl
B2 KJEJE (Hangzhou Nanwang International Hotel*) in 1995.
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Biographical Details of Existing Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing

Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing, aged 56, joined the Company as
director on 22 December 2008. He is presently a Responsible
Officer of Type 4 (Advising on Securities) and Type 9 (Asset
Management) regulated activities governed by the SFC. Mr. Orr is
also an executive director of his Certified Public Accountant firm
“Joseph Orr & Associates, CPA” in the United States of America.

Mr. Orr is a Certified Public Accountant in the United States of
America (Washington) and a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountant and the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, respectively. He received a Master
of Business Administration from Kellogg School of Management,
Northwestern University and the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology, a Master of Arts degree in International Business
and International Financial Management from the University of
Reading and a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) degree in Accounting and
Finance from Middlesex University and a Professional Diploma on

Accounting and Auditing in the PRC from Zhongshan University.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Qianzhou

Mr. Ma, aged 58, has more than 30 years of senior management
experience in gold mining, exploration, ore processing, refining
and merger and acquisitions of mining companies in China.
Mr. Ma is currently a member of National People’s Congress
of Tongguan County, Shaanxi Province, the PRC. Mr. Ma is the
General Manager and director of Taizhou Mining. He had served
as executive director of Gold Association of Shaanxi Province.
He had held senior management positions as the director of
the Small and Medium Entrepreneurs Association, Shaanxi
Province, PRC, and the Vice President of the Small and Medium
Entrepreneurs Association of Weinan City, Shaanxi Province, the
PRC.
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Report of the Directors
SEERE

The Directors hereby present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its

subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2012 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

on page 47.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2012 (2011: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company, is
set out on page 140. This summary does not form part of the

audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and of the Group during the year are set out in note 13

to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital, share
options and convertible bonds during the year are set out in
notes 24, 25 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements,

respectively.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

articles of association and laws of the Cayman Islands.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2012 had been reviewed by the
existing Audit Committee of the Company before they were duly
approved by the Board under the recommendation of the Audit

Committee.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The Board makes no representation on whether the Former
Directors had an interest in a business which competes or may

compete with the business of the Group during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the

year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
As the Group did not conduct any sales in the year, information
on the Group’s top five customers and suppliers were not

available.
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Report of the Directors
SSEERE

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report

were:

Executive Directors
Dr. Li Dahong
Mr. Feng Jun

(appointed on 24 February 2016)
(appointed on 24 February 2016)
(appointed on 24 February 2016)
(resigned on 23 March 2016)
(resigned on 27 May 2015)
(ceased on 9 November 2012)

Mr. Jiang Zhiyong

Mr. Lee Shing

Ms. Kwok Tai Pan

Mr. Chan Yeuk Sen

Mr. Guo Jian Jun (appointed on 4 November
2011 and ceased on

9 November 2012)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Ma Xiaona (appointed on 24 March 2016)
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing

Mr. Jiang Quanming (appointed on 24 February 2016)
Mr. Guo Wei (appointed on 28 April 2016)

Dr. Cheung Wai Bun Charles J.P (resigned on 23 March 2016)

Mr. Jiao Zhi (resigned on 29 February 2016)
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In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing, will retire at the

forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”).

Dr. Li Dahong, Mr. Feng Jun, Mr. Jiang Zhiyong, Mr. Jiang
Quanming and Mr. Guo Wei, being directors appointed by the

Board, will hold office until the forthcoming general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming general meeting has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation,

other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 10 to

the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
SEERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

The Board makes no representation on whether the Former
Directors had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to which the Company or any of its

subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2012, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares pursuant to share option scheme
of the Company (“Underlying Shares”) and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”))
which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO, or which is otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Report of the Directors

EE8HS
Long positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the REARARDREBRGD ZFR
Company
Number and class Approximate
of securities % of the
WA BB issued share
capital of
the Company
Underlying N
Name Capacity Shares Shares BRTREZ
i3] BHME & 1 HER 5 BREDH
Lee Shing Interest in a controlled 1,472,400,000 - 10.95%
corporation (Note 1)
) REHI AR ER (Hit1)
Personal interest 27,000,000 0.20%
(Note 2)
8 A (Kritz)
Chan Yeuk Sen Interest in a controlled 1,293,672,000 - 9.62%
corporation (Note 3)
BER REH AR R (Ht 3)
Kwok Tai Pan Personal interest - 27,000,000 0.20%
(Note 2)
HRE 8 A (Kritz)
Orr Joseph Wai Sing Personal interest - 3,100,000 0.02%
(Note 2)
mEE 8 A (Kritz)
Jiao Zhi Personal interest - 3,100,000 0.02%
(Note 2)
£B 8 A (Kritz)
Dr. Cheung Wai Bun, Charles J.F Personal interest - 3,100,000 0.02%
(Note 2)
REWEL A FHT 8 A (Kritz)
21 Bz=g —s=p R IR Y



Report of the Directors
SEERE

Notes:

1. These Shares were held by Yong Li Investments Limited, a company

wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lee Shing.

2. The long position in the Underlying Shares mentioned above
represent the Shares to be issued and allotted upon the exercise in
full of the share options granted by the Company pursuant to the

share option scheme of the Company.

3. These Shares were held by Midway International Holdings Ltd.

which was wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Yeuk Sen.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2012, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests
and short positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Save for the share options that were granted under the share
option scheme, none of the Directors or employees of the Group
or their respective associates were granted by the Company or
its subsidiaries the rights to acquire shares or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any
such rights as at 31 March 2012.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
interests and short positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
debentures” above and in the “Share Option Scheme” disclosure
in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time
during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any Director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any
of its holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such

rights in any other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Director or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 March 2012, the following persons (other
than the Directors and chief executives of the Company
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and debentures” above) had an interest or short position
in the Shares or Underlying Shares which were recorded in the

register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Report of the Directors

EFEHS

Long positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the

EARAROREBRG 2FR

Company
Approximate
% of the
Number and class issued share
of securities capital of
AR RER the Company
Underlying RN
Name Capacity Shares shares EBEITRAEZ
waE/EB EEME 47 HER % BHBED
Yong Li Investments Limited Beneficial owner 1,472,400,000 - 10.95%
A ERRAA RzfsA
Midway International Holdings Limited  Beneficial owner 1,293,672,000 - 9.62%
hREBRRD AR A A EREEA
Ma Qianzhou (‘Mr. Ma”) Beneficial owner 1,234,776,571 - 9.18%
(Note 1)
FEM(TREED EREEA (Brit1)
27,000,000 0.20%
(Note 2)
(Hfitz)
Baker Steel Capital Managers LLP Investment manager 714,547,200 - 5.31%
(“Baker Steel”) (Note 3)
Baker Steel Capital Managers LLP REKE (H1:£3)

([Baker Steel |)
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Notes:

1. Mr. Ma is a shareholder, director and the general manager of
Taizhou Mining. Of these Shares, 169,348,000 Shares were held by
Ms. Zhao Yuebing, the spouse of Mr. Ma, and therefore Mr. Ma was

deemed to have interests in these Shares.

2. The long position in the Underlying Shares mentioned above
represent the Shares to be issued and allotted upon the exercise in
full of the share options granted by the Company pursuant to the

share option scheme of the Company.

3. These Shares were held by five funds managed by Baker Steel,
namely Genus Natural Resources Master Fund, Genus Dynamic
Gold Fund, Ruffer Baker Steel Gold Fund, RIT Capital Partners
Baker Steel and Baker Steel Gold Fund.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in

note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 29 to the consolidated

financial statements.

The loans from Ms. Zhao Yuebing, a director of Taizhou Mining
and thus a connected person of the Group, to Taizhou Mining
were fully exempted connected transactions pursuant to Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules as these were conducted on normal
commercial terms or better and these were not secured by the

assets of the Group.

The New Board makes no representation on the compliance of
the GEM Listing Rules in relation to the related party transactions
between Dragon Hill Development Limited, a company owned
as to 85% by a former director of the Company, and the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2012.
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Report of the Directors
SRS

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their
performance, experience and prevailing market rate. Other
employee benefits included provident fund scheme, share option
scheme as well as discretionary bonuses. The determination
of emoluments of the directors of the Company had taken into
consideration of their respective experience, responsibilities in the

Company and the prevailing market conditions.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the

Company’s total issued ordinary share capital was held by the

public as at the date of this report.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

(i) Conditional Approval of the Listing Appeals Committee
on the Company’s Resumption for Trading

Trading in the Shares has been suspended since 11

November 2010.

On 4 June 2015, the GEM Listing Committee decided to
proceed with the cancellation of the listing of the Shares and

the Company was required to submit a resumption proposal

by 4 December 2015.

On 15 January 2016, the GEM Listing Committee decided
that the resumption proposal submitted by the Company on
4 December 2015 was not viable and decided to cancel the

listing of the Shares (the “Listing Decision”).

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
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Notwithstanding the review application made by the
Company in January 2016, on 8 April 2016, the Company
was informed that the GEM Listing (Review) Committee
decided that the resumption proposal submitted by the
Company in March 2016 was not viable and thus uphold the

Listing Decision.

The New Board appointed Proton Capital Limited as
the sole financial adviser of the Company in respect of
the Company’s resumption and on 15 September 2016,
the Company submitted a revised resumption proposal

(“Resumption Proposal’) to the Listing Appeals Committee.

Following the review hearing held on 9 December 2016,
the Listing Appeals Committee decided to accept the
Resumption Proposal, subject to the Company’s compliance
with the conditions (“Conditions”) as summarised below
to the satisfaction of the Listing Department by 14 March
2017:

1. publication of audited consolidated financial statements
for all the outstanding financial results of the Group with
no material audit qualifications indicating questions with
respect to the consolidation of the results of Taizhou

Mining;

2. resolution of any audit qualification issues;

3. providing a working capital forecast with: (a) all principal
assumptions (including appropriate sensitivity analysis
relating to gold and RMB movements) for at least
twelve months from the expected trading resumption
date; (b) a comfort letter from the auditors or financial
advisers confirming that they are satisfied that the
working capital forecast of the Group has been made
by the Directors after due and careful enquiry; (c)
assurance to the satisfaction of the Listing Department
that any equity financing including the Open Offer will

be completed; and
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(i)

(iii)

S5

4. conduct a follow up review by a professional party
to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Listing
Department, all material weaknesses identified have
been rectified and that the Group has in place an
adequate and effective financial reporting procedures

and internal control systems.

The Listing Appeals Committee also stated in its letter that
resumption of trading in the Company’s securities should
be within a reasonably short period of time after compliance
with the Conditions.

Full repayment of bank borrowings and release of
security over the Group’s mining rights

In mid-2016, the Group fully repaid its bank borrowings and
thus, the security over the Group’s mining rights has been

released.

Litigation instituted by Mr. Lau Kin, a purported creditor,
in the Cayman Islands

The Company had been served with a winding-up petition
by Mr. Lau Kin, a purported creditor of the Company to the
Grand Court of the Cayman Islands against the Company.
The petitioning debt stated in the winding-up petition is
an alleged sum due to Mr. Lau Kin by the Company of
HK$19,494,230.43, comprising HK$16,882,000.00 principal
and interest of HK$2,612,230.43 as of 3 May 2016 (the
“Lau Kin Claim”). Mr. Lau Kin seeks an order for the

appointment of joint official liquidators to the Company.

Mr. Lau Kin alleged that by a deed of assignment made
between Dragon Hill Development Limited (“Dragon
Hill”) and him dated 3 May 2016, Dragon Hill assigned to
him a purported debt of the Company in the amount of
HK$19,494,230.43 at a consideration of HK$2 million only.
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(iv)

The Company considers the validity of the Lau Kin Claim is
in question and is investigating into and seeking legal advice
in relation thereto. If the Lau Kin Claim is indeed found to
be valid, the Lau Kin Claim will be fully settled from the net

proceeds of the Open Offer.

With agreement of all parties involved, hearing date of
the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands for the aforesaid
litigation shall be further adjourned with a hearing to be held
on the first available date after 14 March 2017 (Cayman

time).

Litigation instituted by Mr. Lee Shing, a purported
creditor, in Hong Kong

The Company has recently been served with a petition for
the winding-up of the Company by Mr. Lee Shing (a former
executive director, ex-Chairman, an existing substantial
shareholder of the Company) to the High Court, Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region under the provisions of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “Lee
Shing Petition”).

Mr. Lee Shing alleged in the Lee Shing Petition
that the Company is indebted to him in the sum of
HK$18,223,125.50 (the “Alleged Indebtedness”),
comprising (i) a purported loan of HK$6,925,000.00
assigned by a former Director to Mr. Lee Shing on 12
April 2010; (ii) a loan purportedly provided by Mr. Lee
Shing plus interest calculated up to 30 August 2016
of HK$7,019,020.50 in aggregate; and (iii) director’s
emoluments and reimbursements of HK$4,279,105.00 in

aggregate.
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Report of the Directors
SEERE

Before the presentation of the Lee Shing Petition by Mr. Lee
Shing, the Company had been in the course of requesting
relevant documents and supportings from Mr. Lee Shing
so as to substantiate and verify the Alleged Indebtedness.
Although Mr. Lee Shing’s legal adviser has indicated
his client’s intention to provide, the Company has never
received any of the requested documents up to the date of

this report.

The first hearing date of the Lee Shing Petition has been
scheduled to take place on 15 March 2017 in the High
Court, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. For the
avoidance of doubt, 15 March 2017 is not a winding up
date of the Company. According to the legal advice obtained
by the Company, the hearing of 15 March 2017 is an
endorsed hearing whereby a Master would check whether all
procedural matters have been complied with and ascertain
whether the Company or any other person would oppose to
the Lee Shing Petition. If the Company opposes to the Lee
Shing Petition at the hearing to be held on 15 March 2017,
the case would be adjourned before a High Court Judge
for his/her directions as to filing of evidence and other court

documents.

The Company is seeking legal advice and endeavor to
vigorously oppose the Lee Shing Petition. In light of the
conditional approval to the Resumption Proposal from the
Listing Appeals Committee as detailed in the Company’s
announcement dated 19 December 2016, the Company
is implementing the Resumption Proposal whereby a fund
raising plan will be conducted to fully settle, among others,

the Alleged Indebtedness if verified.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2012 were audited by McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited
(‘MMW?”).

MMW was appointed as auditor to the Group on 26 May 2016
to fill the casual vacancy occasioned by the resignation of Parker
Randall CF (H.K.) CPA Limited with effect from 12 May 2016. The
reason for the change of auditor was Parker Randall CF (H.K.)
CPA Limited did not have sufficient human resources to conduct

the audit works of the Company.

Save for the aforesaid, there have been no change of auditors of

the Company in the past three years.
MMW will hold office until the conclusion of the next AGM. A

resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint

MMW as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Li Dahong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 February 2017
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Corporate Governance Report
EXEBHRS

MATERIAL CHANGE IN THE MANAGEMENT
TEAM OF THE COMPANY

There had been material changes in the management team of the

Company as follows:

(@)

(i) the offices of Mr. Chan Yeuk Sen and Mr. Guo Jian Jun
as Directors were vacated in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company with effect from the close
of the board meeting held on 9 November 2012 as they
had been absent from meetings of the Board for more
than six consecutive months and no alternate Director has
attended in their places; (ii) all but one members of the
old Board resigned as of 23 March 2016, namely Mr. Lee
Shing, Ms. Kwok Tai Pan, Dr. Cheung Wai Pun Charles JP
and Mr. Jiao Zhi ((i) and (ii) are hereinafter collectively, the
“Former Directors”). Save and except for Mr. Orr Joseph
Wai Shing (“Mr. Orr”) who is an existing independent non-
executive Director since 22 December 2008 and was not
involved in the daily management and operation of the
Group, all of the existing Directors (the “New Board”) only

came into place from late February to late April 2016; and

Mr. Leung Siu Kuen, the Company Secretary of the
Company appointed in place of Mr. Ho Wing Kai since
13 July 2010, resigned with effect from 1 July 2012. Mr.
Ng Wai Kee was appointed as the Company’s Company
Secretary with effect from 1 July 2012 and resigned with
effect from 5 April 2016. Ms. Lam Yuen Ling Eva has been
appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company with
effect from 6 April 2016.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Due to the material change as stated in the subsection headed
“Material Change in the Management Team of the Company”, the
New Board cannot make any representation about the adoption
and/or compliance of the principles and the applicable provisions
of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) set
out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules by the Company
and/or the Former Directors for the year ended 31 March 2012,
however, based on the information available to the New Board,
the Company had the following deviations from the Code during
the year ended 31 March 2012:

Code Provision A.4.1 and A.4.2

Code Provisions A.4.1 of the Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific team, subject to re-
election. Code provision A.4.2 of the Code further stipulates,
among others, that every director, including those appointed for a
specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least

once every three years.

The Company’s non-executive directors were not appointed for
a fixed terms. The Company had not held any annual general
meeting since the latest annual general meeting held on 16
August 2010 as it had not yet published its audited accounts
since the year ended 31 March 2010. As such, the Former
Directors and Mr. Orr had not been retired by rotation at least

once every three years.
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Corporate Governance Report
EXEBHRS

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

Due to the material change as stated in the subsection headed
“Material Change in the Management Team of the Company”, the
New Board cannot make any representation to the compliance of
the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules by the Former Directors during in the
year ended 31 March 2012.

Having made specific enquiry, Mr. Orr confirmed that he had
complied with the required standard of dealings and the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors adopted

by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2012.

COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 5.15

Due to the material change as stated in the subsection
headed “Material Changes in the Management Team of the
Company”, the New Board cannot make any representation to
the compliance of Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules by the
Company’s former Company Secretary during the year under

review.
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Corporate Governance Report

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

Set out below are the attendance records of all the Directors

EEHEER
PREFNAFENRT2EELLH EF

FREBIHS

at the board meeting, board committee meetings and general ZEEGRRRRRG 2 HEREHINNT
meetings held during the year:
Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Meeting Meeting Meeting
ERZER FMzEe REZEE
Ezggl =f = = BRRAE
Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings entitled to attend
LEEBRNE ARLEERRY
Executive Directors: YITES:
Mr. Chan Yeuk Sen BERELE 5/5 N/A i A N/A T8 A N/A 7 A -
Mr. Guo Jian Jien (aopointed on PEERE (RZE——F
4 November 2011) +—ABREZHE) 3/3 N/A T8 A N/A T iE A N/A T8 A -
Mr. Lee Shing FHEAE 5/5 N/A 71 N/A i N/A T iE B -
Ms. Kwok Tai Pan BREZT 5/5 N/A 7 idE A N/A i N/A T iE A -
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES:
Directors:
Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing FEBEE 5/5 4/4 3/3 - -
Dr. Cheung Wai Bun Charles J.2 REWBL A FH+ 5/5 4/4 3/3 - -
Mr. Jiao Zhi EREE 5/5 4/4 3/3 - -

During the year, the Company did not held any general meeting.
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Corporate Governance Report
EXEBHRS

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company are separate and currently exercised by Dr. Li Dahong

and Mr. Feng Jun, respectively.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Due to the material change as stated in the section headed
“Material Changes in the Management Team of the Company”,
the New Board cannot make any representation to the
compliance of the continuous professional training requirements

pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the Code.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Due to the material change as stated in the section headed
“Material Change in the Management Team of the Company”,
the New Board cannot make any representation on whether
the former independent non-executive Directors satisfied the
requirements of Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules nor whether
they had provided the required written confirmation to Stock
Exchange and/or the Company or not during the year under

review.

The Company confirmed that it has received the annual
confirmation of independence from Mr. Orr pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company still considers Mr. Orr

to be independent.
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD COMMITTEES

In the year under review, the Company has established three
committees, namely the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee to assist the Board in

discharging its duties and responsibilities.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
has written terms of reference that sets out its authorities and
duties, which has been published on the websites of the Stock

Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive
Directors. Members of the Audit Committee during the year and

as at the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Jiang Quanming (Chairman)
(appointed on 1 March 2016)
Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing
Mr. Guo Wei (appointed on 28 April 2016)
Dr. Cheung Wai Bun Charles J.P
(resigned on 23 March 2016)
Mr. Jiao Zhi (resigned on 29 February 2016)

Note: Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing was chairman of the Audit Committee

until he was replaced by Mr. Jiang Quanming on 1 March 2016.
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Corporate Governance Report
EXEBHRS

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year.

The current Audit Committee has reviewed the accounts for
the year ended 31 March 2012 which were audited by MMW,
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming AGM. The
current Audit Committee has recommended to the New Board
the reappointment of MMW as the auditors of the Company at
the forthcoming AGM. The New Board did not take different view

from the Audit Committee on the appointment of external auditor.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee”) was established on 30 March 2012 and has written
terms of reference that sets out its authorities and duties, which
has been published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and

the Company.

Members of the Nomination Committee during the year and as at

the date of this report are as follows:

Mr. Jiang Quanming (Chairman)

(appointed on 1 March 2016)
Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing
Mr. Guo Wei (appointed on 28 April 2016)
Mr. Feng Jun (appointed on 24 March 2016)
Dr. Cheung Wai Bun Charles J.P

(resigned on 23 March 2016)
Mr. Jiao Zhi (resigned on 29 February 2016)

For the year ended 31 March 2012, No meeting was held
by Nomination Committee. Details of the attendance of the
members of the Nomination Committee in the said meeting
are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance at

Meetings” above.
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Corporate Governance Report

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) has written terms of reference that sets out its
authorities and duties, which has been published on the websites

of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Remuneration Committee during the year under

review and as at the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Jiang Quanming (Chairman)
(appointed on 1 March 2016)
Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing
Mr. Guo Wei (appointed on 28 April 2016)
Ms. Ma Xiaona (appointed on 24 March 2016)
Dr. Cheung Wai Bun Charles J.P
(resigned on 23 March 2016)
Mr. Jiao Zhi (resigned on 29 February 2016)

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the Remuneration Committee
held three meetings. Details of the attendance of the members
of the Remuneration Committee in the said meeting are set
out under the subsection headed “Directors’ Attendance at

Meetings” above.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 March 2012, the fees paid/payable to the
auditor in respect of the audit and non-audit services were as

follows:
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Corporate Governance Report
EXEBHRS

ACCOUNTABILITY

The Directors are responsible for preparation of financial
statements which give true and fair view of the state of affairs,
the results of operations and cash flows of the Group in
compliance with accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules,
legal and statutory requirements in relation to financial reporting.
In preparation of the financial statements for the six months
ended 30 September 2011 and for the year ended 31 March
2012, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently. The financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2012 have been prepared on going

concern basis.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents

during the year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests
and rights, separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including the election
of individual Directors, for shareholders’ consideration and
voting. All resolutions put forward at shareholders’ meetings
will be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and
the poll results will be published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company at “www.hkexnews.hk” and “http://
www.aplushk.com/clients/8299GrandTG/”, respectively, after the

relevant shareholders’ meetings.
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Right to convene extraordinary general meeting

Any one or more shareholder of the Company holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
(21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post, together with his/
her contact details, such as postal address, email or fax, to the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of

the Company Secretary.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings of
the Company by sending the same to the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong, specifying his/her information, contact
details and the proposal(s) he/she intends to put forward at the
general meeting regarding any specified transaction/business and

the supporting documents.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Bz SRS =S

To the shareholders of
GRAND T G GOLD HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited set out on pages 46 to
139, which comprise the consolidated and Company statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2012, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statements of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement whether due

to fraud or error.
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Independent Auditor’s Re ort

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.

Except for the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence as explained below, we conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement. Because of the matters described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, however, we were
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide

a basis for an audit opinion.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

() Opening balance on provision of PRC Enterprise Income
Tax
We are unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence to satisfy
ourselves for the amount of the PRC Enterprise Income
Tax provision brought down from previous years has
been properly handled by the Company, and the related
disclosures had been properly recorded and reflected in the
consolidated financial statements as at and for the financial

year-end.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Bz SRS =S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (continued) BB 2 EE #)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued) TRREANWER (&)
(ii) Inventories (i) #&

We have been invited to attend the physical inventory count
conducted by the Company in November 2016. However,
due to the prolonged period of time elapsed between the
date of physical inventory count attended and the financial
year-end, we are unable to satisfy ourselves with any
other alternative procedures to be performed on verifying
the details of movements provided by the Company, and
therefore on the amount of inventories and the related
disclosures had been properly recorded and reflected in the
consolidated financial statements as at and for its financial

year-end.

(iii) Property, plant and equipment and mining rights

We are unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence to satisfy
ourselves to ascertain the recoverable amount of the
Property, plant and equipment and mining rights as to
whether the Company can continue as a going concern
in continuing its operation to generate sufficient amount
of cash to substantiate their recoverability and unable to
determine whether any impairment is therefore needed as

based on the assumptions as provided by the Company to

(iii)

EFEXEZ2MN ERARAR-FT-RF
T—AETZEMEEHE - R A
MEMIFEHE S B EM BFERAR
MEEBR BEFBEXETEAEMER
BFZE BRARMEERNESHE F
It BEFELEMNFERERERRED
REMBFERZGAMBRRAZ BT
85 MR BR

X

N
N

WE BERREARRERE

BEEEINGEANEZRERTME
B P52 55 5 LA B PR #E ) AT U 131 2 BB - LA
EH BERRREBETRERLE UE
ERANREEEZF A [ RS ERK
B REEHEERE EARREBEESFRN
BERREFPZBELERRAEGENE
HZBRESFIFLEMRE AUEF
ELEEMHEBRERTCREMBFER

its valuer under the going concern assumptions with our ZEEHBRRAZ BRI -
audit procedures and hence if the related disclosures had
been properly recorded and reflected in the consolidated

financial statements as at and for its financial year-end.
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Independent Auditor’s Re ort

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (continuea)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continueq)

(iv) Fundamental uncertainty — going concern
The net current liability position of the Group under its
current operating model of asset-backed debt financing,
with the subsequent events of default of convertible bond
and also the winding up petition instituted by a third party
with the Grand Court of Cayman Islands as reported in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements and
certain unresolved litigations, among other things, indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group and its ability to continue as
a going concern. We have disclaimed our opinion in respect
of the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis

for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, we have not been able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on

the consolidated financial statements.

McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

SETO MAN FAI
Practising Certificate Number: P05229

Hong Kong
16 February 2017
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Consolidated Income Statement

nuT\ LIK

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #Z =%

——FZA=F—HIFFE

2012 2011
—E-—F —E——%
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b &t FET FAT
Revenue W 6 - -
Cost of sales kDN - -
Gross profit EH - -
Other losses HibE518 (10,449) (26,490)
Selling and distribution expenses 456 & 7 #55 & (566) (41)
Impairment loss of goodwill e REEE - (1,408,061)
Administrative expenses THHAX (30,597) (38,179)
Operating profit/(loss) R, (E18) (41,612) (1,472,771)
Finance costs Bh & A AR 7 (22,882) (14,042)
Profit/(loss) before tax BEEATEF, (EBE) 8 (64,494) (1,486,813)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fiis®i () % 9 = 18,926
Loss for the year FEEIE (64,494) (1,467,887)

Loss for the year attributable to: FEFHERBR :
Equity holders of the Company AR aAl#Ez=EFEA A (54,970) (1,469,476)
Non-controlling interest JEE IR (9,524) 1,589
(64,494) (1,467,887)
HK Cents HK Cents
&4l Al

Loss per share BRER

Basic B2 12 (0.41) (11.94)
Diluted i 12 (0.41) (11.94)

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehenswe Income
Ju.TﬁD]H_E\Eui

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #Z - ZF— —F=ZH=1—HIIFZ

2012 2011
—E-=F —T——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt it TER FHT
Loss for the year FEEIE (64,494) (1,467,887)
Other comprehensive income FEHM2EKE:
for the year:
Item that may be reclassified AR EEF 7R
subsequently to profit or loss Bz HE
Exchange differences arising BMEBINEEB QA
from translation of financial MBmEMEEZ
statements of overseas M 5 =&
subsidiaries 9,958 11,417
Fair value change and AHEHEREZ
reclassification to profit or NEEEH R
loss in regard of available EFoERER
for sale investment 3,068 (28,227)
13,026 (16,810)
Total comprehensive loss FEXHEEAE
for the year (51,468) (1,484,697)
Total comprehensive loss 2HEBREEREBEN:
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company  ARAQ AI#EZRIFAR A (42,227) (1,486,669)
Non-controlling interest PR (9,241) 1,972



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ORI E

As at 31 March 2012 R=F—=—F=H=+—H

2012 2011
—E2-=F T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt it TER FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W% BB k&EE 13 385,017 320,646
Prepaid land lease premium ENTHEEER 1,233 1,188
Mining rights related assets REERREE 14 51,547 50,287
Construction in progress EEIR 13 1,794 1,727
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ AIfEHE @M EE 15 1,243 10,905
440,834 384,753
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 17 52,554 24,539
Other receivables and b e R IE
prepayments TR 5RIE 18 43,342 44,265
Cash and cash equivalents HeNRELEEEER 19 1,452 1,933
97,348 70,737
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables ENESERZR
H fth & 5 FRI8 20 71,239 111,615
Deferred income iR GE W = 654 36
Promissory notes A B 23 12,500 12,500
Tax payables &R IR 128 63
Interest-bearing borrowings M EEE 21 20,873 16,783
105,394 140,997
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAETRE (8,046) (70,260)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRBAEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 432,788 314,493
ﬁ;mirRGeggrltd fyrotlll:tienlggal-rimitdeedd 31 March 2012 48



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
B FS AR &

As at 31 March 2012 R=-F—=—F=H=+—H

= B
e

2012 2011
—g-—F %
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BiaF FHET THET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Convertible bonds AR B 5 22 15,897 14,374
Long term loans EHER 21 234,746 66,506
250,643 80,880
NET ASSETS BEEFE 182,145 233,613
CAPITAL AND RESERVES ERRF#E
Share capital fi% < 24 53,794 53,794
Reserves B 26 119,964 162,191
Equity attributable to equity RAGRERZEBA
holders of the Company JEAE 2R 173,758 215,985
Non-controlling interest FE5 R i = 8,387 17,628
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 182,145 233,613
The financial statements on pages 46 to 139 were approved and FAGBE E FI0EMNHIBRBREN —_ZE—+F —

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 16 February

2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

Li Dahong
E-Y NN
Director

EF
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Statement of Financial Position

B FS AR

As at 31 March 2012 R=F—=—F=H=+—H

2012 2011
—E2-=F T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 FHE T FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE 16
Interests in subsidiaries NN A - -
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Deposits,prepayments and e BARIER
amounts due from subsidiaries JFE UL B B A B FE 16 333,881 346,003
333,881 346,003
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Promissory notes AR E R 23 12,500 12,500
Other payables and accruals HEmEgELETER 26,796 26,347
39,296 38,847
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 294,585 307,156
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EERARBAE
LIABILITIES 294,585 307,156
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Convertible bonds A 2 I 1B 22 15,897 14,374
15,897 14,374
NET ASSETS BEEFE 278,688 202,782

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2012
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Statement of Financial Position

B RS IR %

As at 31 March 2012 R=-F—=—F=H=+—H

2012 2011
—E2-=F T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
K1t FHE T FET

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARR#HE
Share capital % S 24 53,794 53,794
Reserves 1 26 224,894 238,988
TOTAL EQUITY DB 278,688 292,782

The financial statements on pages 46 to 139 were approved and

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 16 February

2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

Li Dahong
EP NN
Director

EF

51
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ROBmEER

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ElZ —F——F=HA=+—HIFF

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RREREREARE
Foreign Retained
Issued currency Share  Convertible profit/ Non-
share Share  translation option bonds  Revaluation ~ (Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) Total interest total
EH@% El/hﬂﬂ/
BEARE  ROEE MBAERE BREEE BHEE  ERRE (2H4ER) ait EARER @t

HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR TR TR TR TR
t 1 April 2010 RZZ-ZEMNA-A 44819 1,502,068 912 26,703 37,696 - (74,656) 1,637,642 15,656 1,553,298

Issue of shares upon placing and ~ REEREAREEHE

capitalisation of shareholders’ BhkH

loan - - - - - - - - - -
Issue of shares upon conversion ~ RERATRREREETRA

of convertible bonds - - - - - - - - - -
Recognition of equity settled based B2 MRIEL 8 BB

payments - - - - - - - - - -
Transfer to retained profit ERZREET - - - - - - - - - -
Conversion of shares B3 g o) 5807 111970 - - (32,660) - - 85,117 - 85,117
Share application Bl 3,168 76,727 - - - - - 79,895 - 79,89
Transaction with owner éﬁikgﬁAZx% 8975 188,697 - - (32,660) - - 185012 - 165012

Net profit/{oss) for the year FREN/ (FE) 52 - - - - - (1,469.476)  (1,469,476) 1589 (1,467,887)

Other comprehensive income: Et2ERA: - - - - - - - - - -
Exchange differences arising RAZENMBAANBRK

from translation of financial FEsZERZS

statement of overseas

subsidiaries - - 11,034 - - - - 11,034 383 1,417
Fair value change and NHHEREZATERER

reclassffication to profit or loss ENNEEER

inregard of available for sale

investment - - - - - (28,227) - (28,227) - (28,227)

Total comprehensive income FEREHAEE

for the year - - 11,034 - - (28,227)  (1,469,476)  (1,486,669) 1,972 (1,484,697)
At 31 March 2011 RZE-——§Zf=1-H 53,794 1,690,765 11,946 26,703 5,036 (28,227)  (1,544,0382) 215,985 17,628 233,613
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited 52
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Consolidated Statement of Changes

in E

uit

= A §55 <X 5%
LOoOEmERNE
For the year ended 31 March 2012 #Z - ZF— —F=ZH=1—HIIFZ
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARAREREARSL
Foreign Retained
Issued currency Share  Convertible profit/ Non-
share Share translation option bonds Revaluation (Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) Total interest total
TER REEFN/
BEARA ROBE HLERE BERERE BHEE  EMRE (RHER) &t FERRER @t
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TEn Thn TEn TEn TER TEn TEn TEn Thn Thn
At 1 April 2011 RZZ-—5MA-A 53,794 1,690,765 11,946 26,703 5,036 (08,027) (1,544,082 215,985 17,628 233,613
Issue of shares upon placing and ~ RE &R AR FREHE
capitalisation of shareholders’ £l
loan - - - - - - - - - -
Issue of shares upon conversion  RERATRREREETRA
of convertible bonds - - - - - - - - - -
Recognition of equity settled BRRELEERAR
based payments - - - - - - - - - -
Transfer to retained profit ERERBER - - - - - - - - - -
Transaction with owner BEEALRS - - - - - - - - - -
Net profit/{oss) for the year FREN/ (FE)FE - - - - - - (54,970)  (54970) (9524 (64,494)
Other comprehensive income: Et2ERA:
Exchange differences arising RAZENBLANERR
from translation of financial FEsZERZS
statement of overseas
subsidiaries - - 9,675 - - - - 9,675 283 9,958
Fair value change and NHHEREZATERER
reclassification to profit or loss ~~ EFHEEEH
in regard of avaiable for sale
investment - - - - - 3,068 - 3,068 - 3,068
Total comprehensive income FERARNLER
for the year - - 9,675 - - 3,068 (54,970) (42,227) (9,241) (51,468)
At March 31 2012 RZE2-Z£Zf=t-AH 53,794 1,690,765 21,621 26,703 5,036 (25159) (1,599,002) 173,758 8,387 182,145
53 \ AEESERBRAR
BE-Z-——F=A=+—HLLFEZER



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

nuT\ Iﬁ%ﬂllgi

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ElZ —F——F=HA=+—HIFF

2012 2011
—E——F —E——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt it THER FHET
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING REKETHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BB RS R (64,494) (1,486,813)
Adjustments for: AT SIBIEH A
Goodwill impairment EESNEE - 1,408,029
Depreciation and amortization PrE M 709 1,154
Reverse of deferred tax asset BERERBEE - 4,226
Amortisation of convertible bonds and  AJ ¥ [% & 5 2 # 85 &
convertible bonds interest AR EH T & 1,524 4,647
Loss on disposal of Available for sale &R HERE
investment and property, plant and AR BB &
equipment HEzBE 10,443 25,827
Operating loss before working capital ~ RN&EE & EERTH
changes LB EsE (51,818) (42,930)
Changes in inventories TEE (14,372) (13,917)
Changes in trade and other EWE SRR
receivables H fth B U AR TE & B (3,282) (18,551)
Changes in trade and other payables ENZEZBER K
H i BRI E B (40,309) 105,836
Changes in deposit and prepayments & & M B4 0 H & 4,208 (2,242)
Deferred income iR E IR 2 618 36
Cash (used in)/generated from mEEL (R BEEZ
operations Be (104,955) 28,232
Oversea taxation paid B8N IE - -
Net cash(used in)/generated from BEEEE (A EEXZ
operating activities HeF5m (104,955) 28,232
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING RETHELEZEHESRE
ACTIVITIES
Disposal of Available for sale LEHEERE
investment 2,283 6,719
Purchases of property, BEWE BELEHB
plant and equipment (64,745) (134,934)

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2012
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Consolidated Cash FIow Statement
Ju.T.ﬁ Iﬁ%ull%%

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #Z - ZF— —F=ZH=1—HIIFZ

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Share application
Bank loans repaid
Proceeds from loans

Repayment of promissory notes

Net cash generated from
financing activities

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT 31 MARCH

2012 2011
—E-_F —E——%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
HiaF THET THET
Net cash (used in) investing activities IREEE (FTA) 2B L FHE (62,462) (128,215)
BEZTB2RERE
— 80,002
%‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁféﬁx - (45,687)
REERBERIE 166,671 71,225
EBEALER - (2,500)
METBEFESRESFEE
166,671 103,040
BERBLEEEREH
(746) (1,169)
RIWA—BZR& X
Z£EIEE 1,933 2,087
T“@JZ%;@%E
265 1,015
R=ZA=+—HZRER
ReZEER 1,452 1,933
AEESERERAT
55 BE-B-—F=A-t-RALEELFH



CORPORATE INFORMATION
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was

incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. Its principal place of business in Hong
Kong is Room 2410, 24/F, Wayson Commercial Building,
28 Connaught Road West, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong. The
Company’s shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market (the “GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The principal places of the business are in The People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) and Hong Kong. The principal
activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred
to as the “Group” hereinafter) are principally engaged in gold
exploration, mining and mineral processing. Details of the
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to

the consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$"), and the functional currency of the Company is HK$,

with values rounded to the nearest thousand.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

2.1 Standards and Interpretations adopted in the

current period

In the current year, the Company has adopted the
following new and revised standards, amendments and
interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as
“new and revised HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
which are relevant to and effective for the Company’s

financial period beginning on 1 April 2011:

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited 56
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2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

2.1 Standards and Interpretations adopted in the

current period (Continued)

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs 2010
(Amendments) except for the amendments to
HKFRS (as revised in 2008),
HKFRS 7, HKAS 1 and HKAS 28

HKFRS 1 Limited Exemption from Comparative

(Amendment) HKFRS 7 Disclosures for Firs-time
Adopters

HKFRS 1 Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of
(Amendment) Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters

HKFRS 7 Disclosures - Transfers of Financial
(Amendments) Assets

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
(Amendment) Assets

HKAS 24 (as revised  Related Party Disclosures
in 2009)

HKAS 32 Classification of Rights Issues

(Amendments)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
OB FS IR = BU5E

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. EAFMIIREETEEBYMHER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING FER (2)
STANDARDS (continued)
2.1 Standards and Interpretations adopted in the 21 REYERMZERRRRE (&)

current period (Continued)

HK (IFRIC)-Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding HE(BERYE SEEeRT BNHE
(Amendment) Requirement BEREZEY)
-REE14%
(&)
K (IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with A (BREE  NRAIEAESRER
Equity Instruments gEREZEE)
—-REE19%

Except as described below, the adoption of the new
and revised HKFRSs has no material effect on the
financial statements of the Company for the current and

prior accounting periods.

HKAS 24 (Revised) — Related Party Disclosures HKAS
24 was revised to include a new definition of related
party and to provide a partial exemption from the
disclosure requirements in relation to related party
transactions and outstanding balances, including

commitments, with:

(a) a government that has control, joint control or

significant influence over the reporting entity; and

(b) another entity that is a related party because the
same government has control, joint control or
significant influence over both the reporting entity

and the other entity.

The Company adopted the new definition in its
accounting policies but such adoption does not have
an effect on the disclosures made in the financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 - Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010

The improvements comprise a number of improvements to
Standards including the following that are considered to be

relevant to the Company:

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instrument
Disclosures: Clarification of disclosures

The Amendments clarify the required level of disclosures
about credit risk and collateral held and provide relief from
disclosures previously required for renegotiated loans. The

Company has amended its disclosures accordingly.

The Company has not early applied any of the following new

and revised standards, amendments and interpretations

which have been issued but are not yet effective for annual

periods beginning on 1 April 2011:

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-
time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards—
Severe Hyperinflation and Removal
of Fixed Dates for First-time
Adopters!

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures —
Transfers of Financial Assets'

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities*

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments®

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements*

59

fom © H1 75 ¥ R By 5T

ER#HITREETEBMER
HER (&)

CERE-RERAMBHRERER ZIE-
—E-SERAVBHRERAZWE
BOE BT — RIIEER Z M BFE T
WRBEARRREEZEF

EENBEE R ETR T2 M A
ZRE BB ESEE

5 5T BI RO 9t 15 B LB R PSR
WEER KT RS A B
RZBBEFR - AAACIEETARE
B R

ANATWEEN ER T EEGER-S

——FNA-BRBZFERBERREX
ZAEFE] MBI BR] R

BENBRE BAVBREENFIRZEE

ERAF15 RERBERBEREER -HE
ZIEFT BUHBRREIGERRAELZ
B E B &

BAMBHRE BEPBRLEEUSTRETE
EAFTH BRI RE-EZoREAE
ZIEFT

BAMBHRE BEPBRLEEUSTRETE
EAFTH BIA: RE-HHEBEER
ZIEFT TRAE

EEMBRE S@MIAS
ERIE95%

EEMBRE HRAVERER
A B 105

\ AEESERBRAR
BEZZ——F=-A=1+—HLFEZFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 - Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010 (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instrument

Disclosures: Clarification of disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 12 Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)

HKAS 27 (2011)

HKAS 28 (2011)

HKAS 32 Amendments

HK (IFRIC)-Int 20

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

Joint Arrangements*

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities*

Fair Value Measurement*

Presentation of Financial Statements
- Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income?®

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income
Taxes — Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets?

Employee Benefits*

Separate Financial Statements*

Investments in Associates and Joint

Ventures*

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation -
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities®

Stripping Costs in the Production

Phase of a Surface Mine*
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 - Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010 (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instrument
Disclosures: Clarification of disclosures (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2012

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2014

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2015

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase
1 of a comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This
phase focuses on the classification and measurement of
financial assets. Instead of classifying financial assets into
four categories, an entity shall classify financial assets as
subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair
value, on the basis of both the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash
flow characteristics of the financial assets. This aims to
improve and simplify the approach for the classification
and measurement of financial assets compared with the

requirements of HKAS 39.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
OB FS IR = BU5E

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 - Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010 (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instrument
Disclosures: Clarification of disclosures (Continued)

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to
HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”)
and incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition
principles of financial instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the
Additions were carried forward unchanged from HKAS 39,
while changes were made to the measurement of financial
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
using the fair value option (“FVO”). For these FVO liabilities,
the amount of change in the fair value of a liability that is
attributable to changes in credit risk must be presented
in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). The remainder
of the change in fair value is presented in profit or loss,
unless presentation of the fair value change in respect
of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts which have
been designated under the FVO are scoped out of the
Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety.
Before this entire replacement, the guidance in HKAS 39
on hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets
continues to apply. The Company expects to adopt HKFRS
9 from 1 April 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 - Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010 (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instrument
Disclosures: Clarification of disclosures (Continued)
HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and
a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure
requirements for use across HKFRSs. The standard does
not change the circumstances in which the Company is
required to use fair value, but provides guidance on how fair
value should be applied where its use is already required or
permitted under other HKFRSs. The Company expects to
adopt HKFRS 13 prospectively from 1 April 2013.

Amendments to HKAS 1 change the grouping of items
presented in OCI. Items that could be reclassified (or
recycled) to profit or loss at a future point in time (for
example, upon derecognition or settlement) would
be presented separately from items which will never
be reclassified. The Company expects to adopt the

amendments from 1 April 2013.

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments that
range from fundamental changes to simple clarifications
and re-wording. The revised standard introduces significant
changes in the accounting for defined benefit pension plans
including removing the choice to defer the recognition
of actuarial gains and losses. Other changes include
modifications to the timing of recognition for termination
benefits, the classification of short-term employee benefits
and disclosures of defined benefit plans. The Company
expects to adopt HKAS 19 (2011) from 1 April 20183.

63

fom © B 75 ¥k R By 5F

ER#HITREETEBMER
HER (&)

TE-EEEBMBEREERN ZHE-
—E-SERABUEREENZNE
(#)

BB BHREERETHZIET2MT A
ZHE MAHEEE (&)
BEAUBRELENFEISHRREEATFTED
BHREE ATHEAENE-RRERESR
B BREERGEREANCANBEBERE -
ZERANTTAREAAREFEAQFED
BR EREEMEAMBEREEADI
ERAFEARFENBERT  EOFE
AATERMIES -ARAEHREE =T
—=FMA—BRERERMNE BN ERSEER
F135% -

EREGHENE IR 2B ABEEHEME
Y st 2 51 B IR B /Y 0 M o FE R SRR (B
A (PInR L ERREER) B EE
B (ANBEREHER) MIER KRG
ENDBENERDFAZY - NEEEHRS
B-E—=FMA - HRRANZFE -

EEGHENE1RE (—T——F)BES
R REEAREUNEBHEMARE
¥ B o B RT RS E SR IRE FIET &
MARSIAEARE S SBRIUHELEER
BERGEMERNERZ HME B EEH
BREMNERSENES CHEBREMO
o8B NCE BAE N A I B - N B TR
KE-_T-—=FNOA-BERAELG:T
HRE19R (T ——F) -

\ AEESERBRAR
BEZZ-——F=-A=1+—HLFEZFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
OB FS IR = BU5E

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 - Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010 (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instrument
Disclosures: Clarification of disclosures (Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised standards or interpretations will
have no material impact on the Company’s results and the

financial position of the Company

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of certain properties and financial instruments

which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions
and estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgment in the process of applying the accounting
policies. The area involving critical judgement, and areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
financial statements, are disclosed in note 4 to the financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation

of these financial statements are set out below:

(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made
up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which
the Group has control. Control is achieved when the

company:

() has power over the investee;

(i) is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from

its involvement with the investment; and

(i) has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The existence and effect of potential voting rights that
are currently exercisable or convertible are considered

when assessing whether the Group has control.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary
represents the difference between the proceeds
of the sale and the Group’s share of its net assets
together with any goodwill relating to the subsidiary
which was not previously charged or recognised in the
consolidated income statement and also any related

accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation/Continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
profits on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the

Group.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to control
the financial and operating policies so as to obtain
benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether the

Group controls another entity.

In consolidated financial statements, acquisition of
subsidiaries (other than those under common control) is
accounted for by applying the purchase method. This
involves the estimation of fair value of all identifiable
assets and liabilities, including contingent liabilities
of the subsidiary, at the acquisition date, regardless
of whether or not they were recorded in the financial
statements of the subsidiary prior to acquisition. On
initial recognition, the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position at their fair values, which are also
used as the bases for subsequent measurement in

accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
(b) Subsidiaries (Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment
loss unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included
in a disposal group. The results of the subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable at the reporting date.
All dividends whether received out of the investee’s
pre- or post- acquisition profits are recognised in the

Company’s profit or loss.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities at the date of acquisition.
Such goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated

impairment losses.
Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a

business is presented separately in the consolidated

statement of financial position.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
(c) Goodwill (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, and whether there is an indication that the unit
may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. When the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro rate on the basis of the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement. An impairment loss for goodwill is

not reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-generating
unit, the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised
is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on

disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(d) Revenue recognition

()

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be

measured reliably as follows:

i) sales of compound gold and other metallic
products are recognised when the goods are
delivered and the risk and rewards of ownership

have passed to the customer;

i)  processing fee income and handling income, when

the services are rendered; and

i) interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis taking into account the principal outstanding

and the interest applicable.

Property, plant and equipment

Land and building

The land and buildings elements of a lease of land and
buildings are considered separately for the purpose of
lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and buildings
elements, in which case, the entire lease is generally
treated as a finance lease. To the extent that the
allocation of the lease payments between the land and
buildings can be made reliably, the leasehold interests
in land are classified as prepaid land lease payments
under operating leases, which are carried at cost and
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis,
and the buildings elements are classified as property,

plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
OB FS IR = BU5E

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. EXEBHHBEME »)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) e) ME-BERRE (&)

Land and building (Continued)

Cost of self-constructed properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where
relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the
items and restoring the site on which they are located,

and an appropriate proportion of production overhead.

Depreciation of leasehold land and buildings in
Hong Kong

Depreciation of the Group’s leasehold land and
buildings in Hong Kong is calculated to write off their
valuation over the estimated useful lives on a straight-

line basis.

Depreciation of buildings in the PRC, excluding
Hong Kong

Depreciation of the Group’s buildings in the PRC,
excluding Hong Kong, is calculated on a straight-line
basis to write off their valuation over the unexpired term
of the relevant land use rights or 20 years, whichever is

shorter.

Other items of property, plant and equipment are
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
OB ERERUET

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. EXNETHRME &)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) e) ME-BERRE (&)

Depreciation of buildings in the PRC, excluding
Hong Kong (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of other
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives. The principal

annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Plant and machinery 8 -20%
Furniture, fixture and office equipment 10 - 20%
Leasehold improvement 20 - 50%
Motor vehicles 10 - 20%

Useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and

adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use. The
gain or loss on disposal or retirement of an asset is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is

recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(f)

(9)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Alternatively, intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any

subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and are recognised in the consolidated

income statement when the asset is derecognised.

Mining rights

Mining rights with definite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment loss. Amortisation is provided using the unit
of production method based on the actual production
volume over the estimated total proved and probable

reserves of the ore.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(h) Exploration and evaluation assets

(i)

These are stated at cost less impairment loss.
Exploration and evaluation assets included
topographical and geological survey drilling, exploratory
drilling, sampling and trenching and expenditure
incurred for the technical feasibility studies and incurred
to secure further mineralisation in the mine ore.
Expenditure incurred prior to obtaining the exploration
and evaluation rights to explore an area are written off
as expense as incurred. Once the technical feasibility
and commercial viability of extracting the mineral
resource had been determined and that the project
reaches development phase, exploration and evaluation
costs capitalised are amortised. If exploration property
is abandoned during the evaluation stage, the total

expenditure thereon will be written off.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest
that the carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation

assets may exceed its recoverable amount.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are

classified as operating leases.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(i)

Leasing (Continued)

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as
assets of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, at
the present value of the minimum lease payments,
each determined at the inception of the lease. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in
the consolidated balance sheet as a finance lease
obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between
finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability. Finance lease charges
are charged directly to profit or loss, unless they are
directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case
they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s

general policy on borrowing costs.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable
as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases
are up-front payments to acquire long-term interests
in lessee-occupied properties. Prepaid land lease
payments are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses and are
amortised to the consolidated income statement over

the remaining lease terms on a straight-line basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

)

(k)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If the
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.

Inventories
Gold Mining Division
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, cost
of conversion and other costs incurred in bring the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make

to the sale.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

U

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
on the statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. Financial assets and financial
liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans
and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention

in the marketplace.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

U

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial

asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest

basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. At each reporting date,
subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, deposit for
acquisition and bank balances and cash) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any identified impairment losses. An impairment loss
is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows

discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

U

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated in this category or not
classified in any of the other category. At each reporting
date, subsequent to initial recognition, available-for-sale
financial assets are measured at fair value. Changes
in fair value are recognised in equity, until the financial
asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired,
at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is removed from equity and

recognised in profit or loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not
have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and
derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by
delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses

at each reporting date subsequent to initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial

assets have been affected.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

U

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

(i)

(i

(ii)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

counterparty; or

default or delinquency in interest or principal

payments; or

it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation. For
certain categories of financial assets, such as
trade and other receivables, that are assessed
not to be impaired individually are subsequently
assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio
of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
and other observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on

receivables.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when

there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired,

and is measured as the difference between the asset’s

carrying amount and the present value of the estimated

future cash flows discounted at the original effective

interest rate.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

U

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade and other receivables, where
the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss. When trade and other receivables are considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously

written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised
cost would have been had the impairment not been

recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial
liabilities are generally classified into other financial

liabilities and equity instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

U

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the expected
life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a

shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest

basis for debt instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
borrowings and obligation under finance lease) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the

effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
and loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity

instruments.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

U

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the
financial assets are transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of
a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain
or loss that had been recognised directly in equity
is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a

collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in
respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

U

(m)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in
respect of goodwill above) (Continued)

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the assets
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance
for impairment. An allowance for impairment of trade
and other receivables is established when there is
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the original terms
of receivables. The amount of the allowance is the
difference between the receivables’ carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition. The amount of the allowance is

recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(n)

(o)

(P

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement, cash and cash equivalents represent cash
at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of

change in value.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective

interest method.

Interest-bearing borrowings are classified as current
liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months

after the reporting date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. EXNESHHBEME »)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(q) Foreign currency translation (q) s E

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each date
of the statement of financial position, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date of the statement of
financial position. Non- monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign

currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains or losses are recognised
directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange

differences are also recognised in equity.

85

REERERNERER M BmKR-
NZEBIEEE NG (FMNE) &
TR TINAR S BERE R 2 BERE
HENEEE (MZRERBKEEBH 2
FELBRECEE) AR - NEIH
Rtk BE - ASNEFIE E¥IE R
NEBIRRZ Az ERSEHME -
AN DB B IR AP EFIBRZ IEE S
BHE UEEATEE B ZEXRSEH
BME - UINEBEXNATEZIER
BHEITNTEMHREA-

,\\éﬁﬁﬁgiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiéﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi
EXEZRNELMANEDER -
R Q”ASFTE@JBEZ?ETMIEE At
EEENZBETARNIER EEH
BERSERNEaER ZIFEE R
BELEZZRARIN REBERT
PE S ER NN R TR o

REESIER
FoBLEE

BRAH
BE-Z-——F=-A=+t-RLFEZEHRH

E2E



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2':' =¥
wik 3

B} 75 ¥ 22 BfU 5F

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(q) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Groups foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Company at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the reporting date, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised as a separate component of equity
(the exchange reserve). Such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the

foreign operation is disposed of.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is required to
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. A
qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed when

incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale are being undertaken.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are

completed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(s) Retirement benefits schemes

(M)

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the

reporting date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity

leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by
the Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to the
income statement represents contributions payable

by the Group to the funds.

Contributions to state-managed retirement
benefits schemes and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are charged as expenses when
employees have rendered service entitling them to

the contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and
only when, the Group demonstrably commits itself
to terminate employment or to provide benefits
as a result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without realistic

possibility of withdrawal.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

®)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax

currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in the consolidated income statement because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

reporting date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit

nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

®)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and interest in jointly-controlled entity,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax is charged
or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to
items charged or credited directly to equity, in which

case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and

liabilities on a net basis.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to settle the

obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is

remote.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, the party controls, is controlled by,
or is under common control with, the Group; has
an interest in the Group that gives it significant
influence over the Group; or has joint control over

the Group;

ii. the party is an associate;

iii. the party is a jointly-controlled entity;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. EXNESHHBEME »)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(v) Related parties (Continued) (v)

iv.  the party is a member of the key management

personnel of the Company or its parent;

V. the party is a close member of the family of any

individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

vi. the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly-
controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity
resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual

referred to in (iv) or (v); or

vii.  the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of the Group; or of any entity

that is related party of the Group.

(w) Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an

expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when
the projects are clearly defined; the expenditure is
separately identifiable and can be measured reliably;
there is reasonable certainty that the projects are
technically feasible; and the products have commercial
value. Product development expenditure which does

not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

During the year, all research and development costs

have been expensed.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(x)

Segment reporting

The Group identified operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive directors
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group’s business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined

following the Group’s major product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable

segments:

(i) Exploration of gold mine;

(i)  Corporation

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of the product and service line
requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches. All inter-segment transfers are carried out

at arm’s length prices.

The management policies the Group used for reporting
segment results under HKFRS 8 are the same as
those used in its financial statements prepared under
HKFRSs, except finance costs, Income tax and
corporate income and expenses which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any operating
segment are not included in arriving at the operating

results of the operating segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(x)

v)

Segment reporting (Continueq)

Segment assets include all assets but corporate assets
which are not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment are not allocated
to a segment, which primarily applies to the Group’s

headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are
not directly attributable to the business activities of any

operating segment and are not allocated to a segment.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to

reportable segments.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a clearly distinguishable
component of the Group’s business that has been
disposed of or is classified as held for sale, which
represents a separate major line of business or

geographical area of operations of the Group.

Share-based payment transactions Equity-settled
share-based payment transactions Share options
granted to employees

For grants of share options which are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value
of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
options reserve). The impact of the revision of the
original estimates during the vesting period, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding

adjustment to share options reserve.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

(z) Share-based payment transactions Equity-settled
share-based payment transactions Share options
granted to employees (Continued)

For share options, which are vested at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is

expensed immediately to profit or loss.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to

retained profits.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions based on past experience, expectations of
future events and other information. The key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that may have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next

financial year are disclosed below:

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Management regularly reviews the recoverability and/
or ageing of trade and other receivables. Appropriate
impairment for estimated irrecoverable amounts are
recognised in income statement when there is objective

evidence that the asset is impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continuead)
Impairment of trade and other receivables (Continued)

In determining whether impairment loss is recognised,
the Group takes into consideration the ageing status
and the recoverability. Specific allowance is only made
for receivables that are unlikely to be collected and is
recognised on the difference between the estimated future
cash flow expected to receive discounted at the original

effective interest rate and its carrying value.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, management
estimates the useful lives of various categories of property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
machinery of similar nature and functions. The estimated
useful lives reflect the management’s estimate of the period
that the Group intends to derive future economic benefits

from the use of the Group’s property, plant and equipment.

Impairment of mining and exploration assets

The carrying value of mining and exploration assets is
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not
be recoverable in accordance with the accounting policy
as disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements. The
recoverable amount of these assets, or where appropriate,
the cash-generating unit to which they belong, is the
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
In determining the value in use, estimation is made on the
expected future cash flows generated by these assets which
are discounted at a suitable discount rate to their present

value.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continuead)
Impairment of goodwill

Management reviews and determines whether goodwill
is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires management to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the

present value of those cash flows.

Mine resources and reserves

Mining rights and mining development assets are amortised
over the estimated useful lives of the mines in accordance
with the production plans of the entities concerned and the
mineral resources and reserves of the mines using the units

of production method.

The process of estimating the quantities of the Group’s gold
reserve and resources is inherently imprecise and represent
only approximate amounts because of the subjective
judgments involved in developing such information based
on available geological, geophysical, engineering and
economic data. These estimates may change substantially
as additional data from ongoing development activities
and production performance becomes available and as
economic conditions impacting mineral prices and costs

change.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continuead)
Valuation of convertible bonds

The directors use their judgement in selecting an appropriate
valuation technique for the Group’s convertible bonds which
are not quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques
commonly used by market practitioners are applied.
The fair value of the liability and equity components of
the convertible bonds are estimated by an independent
professional valuer based on their techniques. The fair value
of these components varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. Any change in these variables so
adopted may materially affect the estimation of the fair value

of these components.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group had two operating segments for the year ended
31 March 2012, namely Gold Mining Division, Corporate

Division.
Segment results do not include finance costs. Segment

assets and liabilities are allocated based on the operations

of the segments.
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OB FS IR = BU5E

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. ZEPEM (&)
BIGEHHED 2 HHER2IIMT :

Segment information by operating segments is presented as

follows:

Year ended 31 March 2012

BE-_E—-—F=A=t—HLEFE

Gold Mining Corporate Elimination Total
S ¥ ¥ 8y #at
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK’000
THERT THERT THET THET
Segment revenue: kG
Turnover for external RENBER 2 W
customers - - - -
Gross profit EM - - - -
Other losses H g A (8) (10,441) - (10,449)
Operating expenses KREER (11,390) (19,064) - (30,454)
Depreciation and & T i
amortization® (680) (29) - (709)
Segment results DEEE (12,078) (29,534) - (41,612)
Share-based payment BB HHEX
expenses - - - -
Gain on disposal of HEMB AR s
subsidiaries - - - -
Finance costs BB A (20,834) (2,048) - (22,882)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBLATEM, (BR) (32,912) (31,582) - (64,494)
Income tax expense TSR X = - - -
Net loss for the year FEBBEIHE (32,912) (31,582) - (64,494)
Segment assets DHEE 533,654 1,793,222 (1,788,694) 538,182
Segment liabilities DEHBE 518,169 187,472 (349,604) 356,037
Capital expenditure BERRX 64,678 - - 64,678
Depreciation and TER#
amortization™* 14,352 - - 14,352
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2011

5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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DEER (&)
BE-—ZE——F=A=+—RHLEE

Gold Mining Corporate Elimination Total
ki ¥ #35 it
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK’000
FHET FET TET TET
Segment revenue: kG
Turnover for external RENBER 2 W
customers - - - -
Gross profit EF - - - -
Other income/(losses) HEipl A (8) (2,977) (29,467) - (26,490)
Operating expenses KREER (13,812) (18,476) (1,412,839) (1,445,127)
Depreciation & TER#EE
amortization® (1,050) (104) - (1,154)
Segment results D E (11,885) (48,047) (1,412,839) (1,472,771)
Share-based payment AR
expenses - - - -
Gain on disposal of HEWB AR 2z
subsidiaries - - _ _
Finance costs BB AR (3,008) (11,034) - (14,042)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREATEF (&E) (14,893) (59,081) (1,412,839) (1,486,813)
Income tax expense FSHAX 23,152 (4,226) - 18,926
Net loss for the year FEEETHE 8,259 (63,307) (1,412,839) (1,467,887)
Segment assets DEEE 435,468 1,802,589 (1,782,567) 455,490
Segment liabilities DEEE 388,273 170,323 (336,719) 221,877
Capital expenditure BEARREX 134,901 - - 134,901
Depreciation and e REHE
amortization** 15,982 - - 15,982
* Represents depreciation and amortisation included in * R AT A YT E B -
administrative expenses.
**  Represents total depreciation and amortisation of the Group. > EBASEMITEREBHEBRE-
REESEZERERAT

B=

CE-CEZA=+-HLEFEZFR
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. ZHER (&)

Geographical segments

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong as well
as Macau, other parts of the PRC and Singapore whereas
the principal markets for the Group’s products are mainly
located in other parts of the PRC, Singapore, Australia,

Europe and other Asia-Pacific regions.

Segment information by geographical segments is presented

as follows:

e 15 3 &P

MR 3 K E AL & o

AEEZEBURBBARRI PEAE
bl R MAKEEMRZ EEM
SRR R P B E AR - B0 RN - B

wiuE D WME D 2 D EMERZINNT

2012 2011
—E-—F —E——%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Non-current assets ERBEE

PRC, excluding Hong Kong, FER(ABRERS-
Macau and Taiwan BRI R e E 439,532 373,768
Hong Kong aBA 1,302 10,985
440,834 384,753
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REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 6. WEkHEMUA

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, KRB REER2EEFE (BHRE
net of trade discounts and returns and various types of S RERTREEZBFHNE (40
government surcharges where applicable, and the value of ER))REHERBE ZEE:

services rendered:

2012 2011
—E--F —T——%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Revenue g
Sale of goods HESm - -
Trading of goods BEEEm - -
Rendering of service R R = -
Other income Hebug A
Bank interest income HRITH E WA - -
Compensation income HE WA - -
Sundry income ELEN N 3 6,618
3 6,618
FINANCE COSTS 7. RE KA
2012 2011
—E-=F —T——%
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FET
Interest on bank borrowing |ITEEF S 894 793
Amortisation and interest on MR ESEHE R E
convertible bonds 1,524 4,647
Interest on short term loans HEEFRF S 524 6,387
Interest on long term loans REEZFE 19,940 2215
Finance costs A& KA 22,882 14,042
The weighted average capitalisation rate on funds borrowed BEESMINETHERTBEREF
generally is 12.12% per annum (2011: 2% per annum). 1212% (ZE——F : BF2%) °
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8. FRELAIAE R
REEZBRBALET (BR) MR
(5 A) F7I&E &I -

8. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after

charging/(crediting) the following:

2012 2011
—E-—C—F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FHET
Cost of inventories sold BEERFEXR — -
Impairment loss B EE - 1,408,061
Loss on disposal of available for HEAHEERE ZEE
sale investment 10,443 24,910
Auditors’ remuneration % SN B & 1,000 1,000
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEH 673 743
Depreciation—- owned assets* WE-BEEE" 36 411
Operating lease rentals in respect of BRI EEFZEERS
land and buildings 1,211 1,065
Staff costs including directors’ BINAE (BREESHFH) -
emoluments:
Salaries, wages, allowances and Fe I& 2UREDNZ
benefits in kind 12,195 12,964
Retirement benefits scheme RIKAE A ET &I K
contributions 102 104
Staff costs BIRK 12,297 13,068
* HK$36,000 (2011: HK$ 411,000) are included in * 36,0008 (= F ——%F :411,000/%

T)FTATEASREET(ZF——
FEFET)AABHEKL -

administrative expenses and HK$ nil (2011: HK$ nil) are

included in cost of sales.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the

financial statements as the Group had no assessable profit

for the year (2011: Nil).

Overseas taxation represents tax charges on the estimated

assessable profits of subsidiaries operating overseas

including the PRC, calculated at rates applicable in the

respective jurisdictions for the year.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and

accounting loss at applicable tax rates:

fom © H1 75 ¥ R By 5F

FriS BB <
Pl 7 75 o B0 1A 7 4F 2 3 4 B AR B Y (
T—F ) MUMRB B REHES
ARSI -

BINRIRIE AN (BREFE) &2 2 W
BARIMEEZ G ERBEN 2 HEX
B WIRFRERRBBREER ZHE
PRSTiF MIERR R EZ @5t E18
mE BRI

2012 2011

—E-=F —ET—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THER FET

Loss before tax BB AT EE (64,494) (1,486,813)

Tax at the applicable tax rate in EEBSHBMEFTE 2 A

Hong Kong (10,642) (245,324)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A~ 8] 1 5% 5 32 2 i 75 57 £ 4,293 234,960
Effect of different tax rates of TrH A B AR A 5 T
subsidiaries operating in other ZHBRATEABE 2

jurisdictions wa (3,060) (1,882)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FERREBEBEZREZE 9,409 12,246

Deferred tax assets not recognised RERELERHIAEE - 4,226

Reverse of overprovision ol fBRE R - (23,152)

Income tax expense FriS®if X - (18,926)
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 10.EEFM R ERBRaHES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(a) Directors (@ E=E

ARREFZHMFBAOT :

Details of the remuneration of directors of the Company

are as follows:

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
e BMR BIKEF
ue BYA &= B JEEA a&t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TET THEIT THET
For the year ended BE-2-——-F
31 March 2012 ZA=t-BLEEE
Executive directors: BITEE:
Lee Shing (i) 2 ) - 1,687 12 1,699
Kwok Tai Pan (ii) R E (i) - 1,040 12 1,052
Chan Yeuk Sen (i) PR = (iil) - 1,433 12 1,445
Guo Jianjun (iv) 2h3EE (v) - 616 5 621
- 4,776 41 4,817
Independent non-executive B FHTES:
directors:
Orr Joseph Wai Shing (v) & & () 163 - - 163
Jiao Zhi (vi) EB Vi) 65 - - 65
Cheung Wai Bun, SREMW - X F A1 (vii)
Charles J.P (vii) 163 - - 163
391 - - 391
391 4,776 41 5,208

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 10.ESHFMR LRSS HES

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued) (&)
(a) Directors (Continued) (@ E=E(4£&)
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees inkind  contributions Total
e 2UR RIRAER
we EYH&E BEEEPA A%
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET TET FHET
For the year ended BE-_Z2——-%=58
31 March 2011 Zt+-HLEE
Executive directors: HiTES:
Lee Shing (i) 2 3() - 2,080 12 2,092
Lee Sing Leung, Robin (vii)  Z &% R (viii) - 841 5 846
Kwok Tai Pan (ii) 2B AR (i) - 1,040 12 1,052
Chan Yeuk Sen(iii) PR = (iil) - 620 8 628
- 4,581 37 4,618

Independent non-executive B EHTES:

directors:
Orr Joseph Wai Shing (v)  T{&& () 163 - - 163
Jiao Zhi (vi) = ={\) 65 - - 65
Cheung Wai Bun, SREBMW A F 41 (vil)
Charles J.P, (vii) 163 - - 163
391 - - 391
391 4,581 37 5,009
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(a) Directors (Continued)

Notes:

(ii

(i)

(iv)

(vii)

(vili)

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2012

Mr. Lee Shing was appointed as executive director on 17

July 2009.

Ms. Kwok Tai Pan was appointed as executive director
on 17 July 2009.

Mr. Chan Yeuk Sen was appointed as executive director

on 20 August 2010 and resigned on 9 November 2012.

Mr. Guo Jianjun was appointed as executive director on 4

November 2011 and resigned on 9 November 2012.

Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing was appointed as independent

non-executive director on 22 December 2008.

Mr. Jiao Zhi was appointed as independent non-

executive director on 31 December 2008.

Dr. Cheung Wai Bun, Charles J.P. was appointed as

independent non-executive director on 17 July 2009.

Mr. Lee Sing Leung, Robin was redesignated as

executive director on 17 July 2009.
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 10.ESHFMR LRSS HES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued) (%)

(b) Five highest paid employees b) EEEEHES

The five highest paid individuals for the year included
four (2011: four) directors whose remuneration are
included above. The emolument of the remaining one

(2011: one) individual is as follows:

RAREE Af&EEHA

TERNA

—EFNRBEF REZH
Mo EN EX-Efp—R (ZF——
Fr—B)ALZBMEHOT:

2012 2011
=F P ———f
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T THET
Salaries, allowances and GREEREBEWF =
benefits in kind 806 440
Retirement benefits scheme RIRTEFIET B3R
contributions 12 7
818 447
The number of the non-director highest paid individuals MEaENFTIEE s EEERFTATZ
whose emoluments fell within the following band is as ABUAT
follows:
2012 2011
—E—C—F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,000/ T 1 1

HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 L&

1,500,000/ 7T

During the year, no remunerations were paid by
the Group to the directors or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. No
directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive

any remunerations during the year.
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11. DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company for
the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011.

12.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share

attributable to the equity holders of the Company is based

on the following:

Basic

1. R B

12. BREHE

=N

BE T —FR_T——F=F=1t—
BIEFE - AR D B8R SR AR S o

ARBEDF/AARGEERERREEE
BIOEATER SEEGE:

2012 2011
—EF-=F —F—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Loss attributable to the equity KRalEmfFa AELER
holders of the Company (54,970) (1,469,476)

Weighted average number of

ordinary shares in issue

BT B A8
13,448,488,271

12,303,868,041

Basic earnings per share (HK cents)

BREXREMN (BI) (0.41)

(11.94)

The company recorded a net loss for the year ended 31
March 2012 and 2011. Conversion of Convertible bonds and

exercise of share options does not have a diluted effect.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2012
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12. LOSS PER SHARE (continuea)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume exercise/conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Company has 2 categories of dilutive potential
ordinary shares: share options (Note 25), convertible bonds
(Note 22).

For the share options, a calculation is done to determine
the number of shares that could have been acquired at
fair value (determined as the average market price of the
Company’s shares during the year) based on the monetary
value of the subscription rights attached to the outstanding
share options. The number of shares calculated above
is compared with the number of shares that would have
been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.
Hence, the share options have a dilutive effect only when
the average market price of ordinary shares during the year

exceeds the exercise price of the share options.

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the
year ended 31 March 2012 and 2011 did not assume the
exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options since
the Company’s shares were suspended in listing and there is

no market price for the shares.

The computation of loss per share for the years ended 31
December 2012 and 2011 did not assume the conversion
of the Company’s outstanding convertible bonds since their
assumed conversion would result in a decrease in loss per

share.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. 9% BERRE
Furniture,
fixtures
Mine  Plantand  andoffice  Leasehold Motor Construction
properties  machinery  equipment improvement vehicles  Sub-Total in progress Total
BER & £BR
BENE BE BLAERE BENEEE RE Mt EBIR ay
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TER TAL TAL TER TAL TAL TAL
Cost or valuation BASGE
At 1 April 2010 RZE-ZEMA-H - 8,440 183 127 1,798 10,548 241 10,789
Additions NE 132,912 96 - - 430 133,438 1,453 134,891
Disposals HE - - - - (988) (988) 6) (994)
Reclassification ENNE 245,624 33 - - (129) 245,528 - 245,528
Disposals of subsidiary ~ HEKBRA] - - - - - - - -
Currency realignment EHAE 12,453 341 22 6 56 12,878 39 12,917
At 31 March 2011 RZB-—§Zf=+-8 390,989 8,910 205 133 1,167 401404 1727 403131
Additions NE 64,373 297 8 - - 64,678 - 64,678
Disposals e - - - - - - - -
Disposals of subsidiary ~ HEKBAA] - - - - - - -
Currency realignment EXEE 16,351 350 5 - 45 16,751 67 16,818
At 31 March 2012 RZE--Zf#=ZH=1+-H 471,713 9,557 218 133 1,212 482,833 1,794 484,627
Accumulated depreciation &3t &
At 1 April 2010 R-ZE-FFWA-A - 5,308 63 66 997 6,434 - 6,434
Charge for the year REEZE 18,551 2143 o1 61 (537) 15,239 - 15,239
Elimination on disposal &R H (4,885) - - - (11) (4,896) - (4,896)
Reclassification Eipx] 61,091 (17) - - 1 61,075 - 61,075
Disposals of subsidiary ~ HEKBAA - - - - - - - -
Currency realignment EH A% 2,618 256 18 1 13 2,906 - 2,906
At 31 March 2011 WZE-—F5=Zf=1+—-H 72,375 7,690 102 128 463 80,758 - 80,758
Charge for the year AEETH 13,325 214 36 4 100 13,679 - 13,679
Elimination on disposal &5 ¥ 8 - - - - - - - -
Disposals of subsidiary ~ HEKBRA - - - - - - - -
Currency realignment ERAE 3,083 304 2 - 20 3,879 - 3,379
At 31 March 2012 W-B--#=f=1-8 88,75 8,208 140 132 583 97,816 - 97816
Carrying amount: REE:
At 31 March 2012 R-E--fzZfA=1+-H 382,960 1,349 78 1 629 385,017 1,794 386,811
At 31 March 2011 R-E-—-%=ZA=1+-H 318,614 1,220 108 5 704 320,646 1,727 322,373
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited "0
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14.INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14. B EE

fom © H1 75 ¥ R By 5F

Mining rights
PR 5 #E
HK$’000
THET
Cost R AR
At 31 March 2010 RZZE—ZEF=H=+—H 48,878
Addition NE 12
Revaluation R -
Exchange realignment bE 5 FE B 2,154
At 31 March 2011 R-B-——F=A=1+—H 51,044
Additions NE
Impairment during the year FERIE
Exchange realignment FE 3 AR
Reclassification B A 1,975
At 31 March 2012 R-ZB--F=ZA=+-—H 53,019
Accumulated amortisation Rit#es
At 31 March 2010 R-_ZT—ZEF=A=+—H 743
Provision during the year FEREE
Exchange realignment bE 5 R B 14
At 31 March 2011 W-_ZT——F=A=+—H 757
Provision during the year FEREE 673
Exchange realignment bE 5 R B 42
At 31 March 2012 R-_ZE-—F=A=+—H 1,472
Net book value BRERE
At 31 March 2011 R-_T——F=A=+—~H 50,287
At 31 March 2012 RZE—=—F=H=+—H 51,547
REESEZERERAT
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15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Available-for-sale financial assets include the following:

15. A HESHMEE

AL ESREERRERA TSR

2012 2011
—E—C—F —E——%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Listed securities: FmHEE:
— Equity securities-Australia — [ A — B 1,243 10,905

On 29 October 2009, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into a purchase agreement whereby the subsidiary agreed
to purchase 260,000,000 rights at the consideration
of approximately HK$4.62 million. The transaction was
completed on the same day and the subsidiary had
exercised the rights in full.

The rights involve 260,000,000 unit of rights for subscription
of 260,000,000 new shares in Apex Minerals NL
(“Apex”) (“New Apex Shares”) at a subscription price of
approximately HK$0.28 per New Apex Share together with
1 free option to subscribe for shares in Apex (“Apex Option
Shares”) at an exercise price of approximately HK$0.42
per Apex Option Share for every 10 New Apex Shares
subscribed in the right issue of Apex.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited 112
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15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL

16.

ASSETS (continuea)

Apex is a company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange
and engaged in mining and production of gold and
exploration of mineral resources.

Available-for-sale financial assets held by the Group are
denominated on Australian dollars.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of the debt securities classified as

available-for-sale.

None of these financial assets is either past due or impaired.
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15, HHESRMEE &)

Apex/s — RIVRMNEH R 5 EH{E F5
EMEERSAMBEERBRRGZA
7o

AEEFAZAHEESREENRITS

SEMMEESEAEERRADER
AHHEZERES ZREE-

HETREET BB HKRE-

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. B D A&
Company KAF
2012 2011
—E-—C—F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH& T FAT
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LM G,  IEEARE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEUS B B~ Rl 3R 1A 320,513 332,443
320,513 332,443
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16.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Company (Continued)

Notes:

(@) Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

(i)

(b)  The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March

2012 are follows:

Company name

Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

Issued and fully
paid up capital/
registered capital

(a)

R (&)
B AL

16.MfiEB A R REE (&)

ARBIMBRARZHBET

i) R-B——F=A=+—BARFK
BRRZHBHOT:

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Company

Principal
activities and
place of operations

i aed BRARBMERE AR TS
DNEEBE Rt B % B EMEX BEBS TEEBREEHE
Direct % Indirect %
EE% BE%
SSC Mandarin Mining British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 100 - Investment holding in
Investment Limited 2 October 2007 US$1 each Hong Kong
XENHBEREERAT RBELES 1RERIZET EEBRERER
S s = ZEBR
T G Mining Asia Limited Hong Kong 2,000,000 ordinary - 100 Investment holding in
EeBETMERRA 9 November 2005 shares of HK$1 each Hong Kong
0 2,000,0008 & X178 7T EERREZR
—ZZERFET-ANE  2EBK
SSC Sino Gold Mining PRC Registered and - 90  Investment holding in
Investment Company 5 February 2004 paid-up capital of the PRC
Limited FE US$7,000,000 R BREER
XERE (ER)BERE “TTMF_AHRH  7,000,000%E 7T
ERARAT AMEARRHRRA
Tongguan Taizhou Mining PRC Registered and - 72 Exploration, mining and
Company Limited 29 June 2004 paid-up capital mineral processing
ERBAMNBEEFR e RMB10,000,000 R SRR REY N
BERA —ZEMERA AR #10,000,0007T
—+hH AMEARRHRRA

free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2012
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17.INVENTORIES 17. 78
2012 2011
—F-=F —F—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Raw material R # 71 203
Finished goods BIAX o 52,483 24,336
52,554 24,539

The carrying amount of inventories that were carried at lower
of cost or net realisable value amounted to approximately
HK$52,554,000 (2011: HK$24,539,000). The inventories
were pledged as at 31 March 2012 and 2011.

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included
in ‘cost of sales’” amounted to HK$ nil (2011:HK$ nil).

The Group’s inventories were pledged as collateral with its
financier according to the terms and conditions as mutually
agreed between the PRC subsidiary-Taizhou Mining and
the financiers. As at 31 March 2012, HK$52,483,000 (HK$
24,336,000 for 2011) of the inventories were pledged and

were in the custodian of the financier.

15

FHEEKEE KK A KA 2B FE
#152,554,0008 L (=ZF — — F:
24,539,000/ L) < BIEHE AR -N - F
——ER-ET——F=ZA=+—-0 %
FECEER-

4

p=11l

FERAERRFAX LA THEXRA] E

ALT(ZT——F:TET) -

RNEEREH B R R —AMEZE AR
BANERTERZBARAREHEFEER
BERRERTREA-RZT—ZF=H
=+—H 52,483,000 L (=T ——F
724,336,000/ 7T ) 2 T E B HE B I B H
BEARE -

\ AEESERBRAR
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18. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS

18. H fth FE W FR TR I TR 4 IR

2012 2011
—E——fF —T——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Other receivables, deposits and HAn e RIE - e RIEN
prepayments KIB 43,342 44,265
43,342 44,265

An analysis of other receivables, deposits and prepayments

Hi e IR - 1 & R IEN FHIAZ 540

are as follows: T:
2012 2011
—E——fF —E——%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FAT
Prepayment for the intended ore EHARERBEARRE
refinery SEENE ] 28,913 27,716
Others Hib 14,429 16,549
43,342 44,265
The fair values of other receivables approximate their HEMElR Bz A FEEEREBERS -
carrying amounts.
19. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 19. RE& RBITHEER

As at 31 March 2012, approximately HK1,452,000 (2011:
HK$1,993,000) of the Group’s cash and bank balances were

denominated in Renminbi, a currency which is subject to

exchange control restrictions imposed by the Government of

the PRC.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2012
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20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

fom © H1 75 ¥ R By 5T

20 ENEZRAREMENKE

2012 2011

—F-=F —F—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

Trade payables FERE SRR 8,954 1,983
Other payables and accruals HtmEMNERBRETER 62,285 109,632
71,239 111,615

Included in other payables and accruals are HK$22,211,000 EtwENREREFERREEMS AR
(2011: HK$13,540,000) payable to present and former AR RBIEE S 2 501822,211,0008 7T

directors of the Company.

—T——4:13,540,000/8 7T ) °

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis HERETHR BENE SRR BH

of trade creditors based on the demand note date, is as EHHEIMERETOT
follows:

2012 2011

e —T——F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

0-30 days 0&30H - -

31-60 days 31260H - -

61-90 days 61290H - -

Over 90 days 0B M 8,954 1.983

8,954 1,983
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21. BORROWINGS

Group SEE
2012 2011
—®——F —T——fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Bank borrowings IRITIEE 10,953 10,783
Short term loans HEHER 9,920 6,000
Long term loans RHIEN 234,746 66,506
255,619 83,289
The Group’s interest-bearing loans REEBEENEE
were repayable as follows: BRI
Amount due within one year MARBBEET
included in current liabilities R—F RS2 I8 20,873 16,783
Amount due after one year R—F BB /08 234,746 66,506

The bank borrowings bear interest at prevailing rates and
secured by the mining right owned by the Group and the
interest rate is 7.49% (2011: 7.49%).

The short-term loan is unsecured and the interest rate is 5%
(2011: 5%) per annum.

The long term loan is secured by the inventory of the
Group’s operating subsidiary Taizhou Mining and the interest
rate is nil to 24% (2011: nil to 24%).

The above borrowings are carried at amortised cost
and the carrying amounts of interest-bearing borrowings

approximate to their fair value.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited 118
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2012
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22. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 30 April 2008, the Company issued convertible bonds
with an aggregate principal amount of HK$806,400,000
(the “Convertible Bonds”) with maturity date of 30 April
2013 for partial settlement of the consideration for the
acquisition of SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and
its subsidiaries. The Convertible Bonds were convertible into
new shares of the Company up to the close of business on
the day falling 14 days prior to the aforesaid maturity date.
The Convertible Bonds bear no interest for the period from
the issue date of the Convertible Bonds to the date falling
two years from the issue date of the Convertible Bonds.
Thereafter, the Convertible Bonds carry interest at a rate of
4% per annum, payable in arrears quarterly on 31 March, 30

June, 30 September and 31 December in each year.

The Convertible Bonds contain two components, viz. liability
and equity components. On the issue of the Convertible
Bonds, the fair value of the liability component was
determined using the method of discounted cash flow. The
residual amount, representing the equity component, is
included in shareholders’ equity. The liability component is
subsequently carried at amortised cost until extinguished
on conversion or redemption. If the Convertible Bonds are
converted, the carrying amounts of the equity and liability
components are transferred to share capital and share

premium as consideration for the shares issued.
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22. AR E
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22.

23.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The convertible bond recognised in the balance sheet is
calculated as follows:

22 T[IARES (&)
REERBBERTHERZARKRERFAEN
T

2012 2011

—®——F —F——fF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

Liability component at 1 April RIWA—BzaEHdn 14,374 94,843
Interest expense and amortisation B X K 5 1,523 4,647
Conversion of bonds BEHER - (85,116)
Interest paid EATFE - -
Liability component at 31 March —R=+—HzAaEH 15,897 14,374

The fair value of the liability component of the convertible
bond at 31 March 2012 amounted to HK$15,897,000 The
fair value is calculated using cash flows discounted at a rate
based on the borrowings rate of 10.91% and within level 3
of the fair value hierarchy. As the Convertible Bonds were
matured on 30 April 2013 and its conversion period expired,
the Convertible Bonds became bonds payable on demand.
As at the date of the issuance of the consolidated financial
statement, the outstanding principal amount of the bonds
was HK$15,666,560, which was repayable on demand.

PROMISSORY NOTES

The Group and the Company

The movements in the promissory notes of the Company for
the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

RZE—ZF=A=+—HBURRESHE
BEED 2 A FE AE15,897,0005 T ° % A

FEMEAFRBESRERI0NNZEE
FERAE TBEBREPAFEERN-A
RABRBREEFR _E—=ZFMA=1+8%
HRESBBAERN TRRESFE RER
EREE -NHBEEVHREBE  ES
2 AEE KRS % A15,666,560%8 00 B
ZRERE -

E

23. AN EE
AEERAAR T
BE_ZT——HFR-_ZE——F=A=+—
AIEFEAQNRALER 20T

2012 2011

—E——fF —E——F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

Promissory note B 12,500 12,500

As at 31 March 2012 and 2011, the promissory note was
not yet repaid.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited 120
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24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, i& 25
2012 2011
—B--fF —E——F
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
43 8 B £ ] RiDEE t8
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THT
Authorised: EE
At 1 April RIUA—H 30,000,000,000 120,000 15,000,000,000 60,000
Share consolidation Btn & Bt - - - -
Increase in authorised A TE A N
share capital - - 15,000,000,000 60,000
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 30,000,000,000 120,000 30,000,000,000 120,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
At 1 April RMA—H 13,448,488,271 53,794 11,204,872,271 44,819
Share consolidation Bin & Ot - - - -
Issue of shares as part of BTG IERKE
the consideration for the MEARANSHRE
acquisition of subsidiaries - - - -
Issue of shares by way of placing B & 77 A &7 5 - - - -
Issue of shares upon conversion  RE BRI EHE
of convertible bonds £ - - 792,096,000 -
Issue of shares by capitalisation ~BEBERLREER
of shareholders’ loans BTl - - 1,451,520,000 8,975
At 31 March W=ZA=+—H 13,448,488,271 53,794 13,448,488,271 53,794
121 BE=s-=5=AL T ELTRCAR
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(i)

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2012

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its Hong Kong
employees makes monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance. Both the Group’s
and the employees’ contributions are subject to a cap
of HK$1,000 per month (2010: HK$1,000 per month)
and thereafter contributions are voluntary. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently-administered fund. The
Group’s contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the regulations in the PRC, the employees
in the PRC are required to join the pension fund (&
Z R E S ) which is a defined contribution scheme
operated by the local government for the benefit of
retired employees. The Group is required to make
monthly contributions to the scheme at a specified rate
of the employee payroll to fund the retirement benefits

of the employees.

In 2009, the Group had arranged for the employees
of its subsidiary in Singapore to join the Central
Provident Fund Scheme (the “CPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by the Central Provident
Fund Board. Under the CPF Scheme, the Group and
its Singapore employees made monthly contributions
of 14.5% and 20%, respectively, of the employees’
earnings as defined by the Central Provident Fund
Board.

Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other

obligations to make payments in respect of retirement

benefits of the employees.
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(ii) Share option scheme

At an extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders
of the Company held on 4 March 2009, the original
share option scheme (the “Original Share Option
Scheme”) was terminated and a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) was
adopted. The New Share Option Scheme shall remain
in force for a period of ten years commencing on that
date, subject to early termination by the Company in

general meeting.

To enable the Company to motivate more persons to
make contribution to the Group and recruit additional
talents to serve the Group in attaining the long-term
objectives of the Company, the New Share Option
Scheme has been adopted with a broader category
of eligible participants, including full time and part
time employee, consultant, adviser, agent, contractor,
customer, supplier and shareholder of the Group (the
“Participants”). Under the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may
determine the grant of any options to the Participants
to subscribe for ordinary shares in the capital of the

Company.
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(ii) Share option scheme (Continued)

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2012

The overall limit on the number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
and yet to be exercised under the New Share Option
Scheme and other share option schemes must not,
in aggregate, exceed 30% of shares of the Company
in issue from time to time. The total number of shares
issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted under the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company, including both exercised and outstanding
options, to each Participant in any twelve month period
must not exceed 1% of the then total issued share
capital of the Company (the “Individual Limit"). Any
further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit
must be subject to shareholders’ approval in general
meeting of the Company with such Participant and
his associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)

abstaining from voting.
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(ii) Share option scheme (Continued)

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the New Share Option Scheme at any time
from the date of grant of the option to the date of
expiry of the option as determined and notified by the
directors of the Company to each grantee but may
not be exercised after the expiry of ten years from the
date of grant. The subscription price of the shares in
respect of any particular option granted under the New
Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the board
of directors of the Company, in its absolute discretion,
shall determine and notify the Participant, save that
such price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date grant;
(i) the average closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the

Company’s shares.

There was no grant of share options for the year ended
31 March 2012. (2011: Nil).

As at 31 March 2012, the number of shares in respect
of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the New Share Option Scheme was
206,300,000 (2011: 206,300,000), representing 1.84%
(2011: 1.84%) of the total number of shares of the

Company in issue at that date.
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25. BEER/A (&)

(i)

BRETR (F)
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26. RESERVES 26. A&
(a) Group () *=&%H
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the AEEFEBESEARRAFE LBE
movements therein for the current and prior years are FE2EEFBEIINES2RE3E 2R
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in EEREEFRAZY -

equity on page 52 and 53.

(b) Company (b) A&AQFE

Equity Retained

component  Share Option profits/

Share of convertible Scheme (Accumulated
premium bonds Reserve losses) Total

TgRES BRE REEN/
KRR E Ba¥o SERE  (RIHER) CE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR TET TET TR
As at 1 April 2011 RZZE——FMA—A 1,690,766 5,036 26,703 (1,483,516) 238,989
Conversion of shares BHRM - - - - -
Share application BB - - - - -
Net loss for the year AERFER - - - (14,095) (14,095)

At31 March2012and R-ZT——%

1 April 2012 “A=+—-Hk
—T-ZFQNA-A 1,690,766 5,036 26,703 (1,497,611) 224,894
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited 126
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26. RESERVES (continued)
(b) Company (Continued)
Under section 34 of the Companies Law (Revised) of
the Cayman Islands, the share premium is available for
distribution to shareholders subject to the provisions
of the articles of association of the Company and no
distribution may be paid to shareholders out of the
share premium unless, immediately following the date
on which distribution or dividend is proposed to be
paid, the Company shall be able to pay its debts as

they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

27. COMMITMENTS

(@) Capital commitments

fom © B 75 ¥k R By 5F

26. % &)
(b) &2AH (&)

BIBEFEHEREDE (KIEF])FE34
B EFEARRRIMABERAMA 2R
E—F REERI SR TRE AR

BREEREZEDIRSOUREREZ B
Hﬂfﬁ PN B EERBBRET 2B
&7 75 B LAF A A& 19 )4 (B () AR ER 1
5 R o

27. &I
(a) BEAEIE

Group

AEM
2012 2011
—E-=F —_E——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET

Contracted, but not provided for D EIABRBEHER TR

Construction in progress - -
127 PP ki
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27. COMMITMENTS (continuea)

(b) Operating lease commitments

The Group leases certain of its land and buildings under

operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties

are negotiated for terms ranging between one to three

years with fixed monthly rentals.

Future minimum lease payments of the Group under

27.

AIE (#)

(b) HEHERIE

AEERBEEHERHEARALET
THEEF -DEAENHALER
BHF—E=F HWHEBEEAME-

AEERTAIBHEAERE T2 RK

non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: SRBEESHBHOT
Group
rEE
2012 2011
—F-=F —F—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Within one year —F A - -
In the second to fifth year, FE_EERF
inclusive (BiEEREMT) - -
28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. M A by B B

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include

bank balances and cash, convertible bonds, promissory

notes, interest bearing borrowings, trade and other

receivables, trade and other payables as well as long term

loans. The risks associated with these financial instruments

and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out

below. The management manages and monitors these

exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented

on a timely and effective manner.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2012
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(@) Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are
principally denominated in HK$, Renminbi (‘RMB”).
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities. The
Group adopted a conservative treasury policy with most
of the bank deposits being kept in HK$ or RMB, or in
the local currencies of the operating subsidiaries to

minimise exposure to foreign exchange risk.

The Group has certain investments and operations
in the PRC, whose net assets are exposed to foreign
currency translation risk. Currency exposure arising
from the net assets of the Group’s operations in the
PRC is managed primarily through operating liabilities
denominated in RMB.

To date, the Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions to reduce the Group’s foreign currency
exchange risks. However, the management continues
to monitor the foreign exchange exposure regularly
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency

exposure should the need arise.

A reasonably possible change of 5% in exchange rates
between RMB and HK$ respectively, with all other
variables held constant, would not have material impact

on the Group’s profit and equity for the year.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises
primarily from its borrowings and bank deposits.
Borrowings and bank deposits at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate

risk.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. The management monitor the Group’s
exposure on ongoing basis and will consider hedging

interest rate risk should the need arise.

At 31 March 2012, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points (2011: 100 basis
points) in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s loss
before tax and accumulated losses by approximately
HK$1,604,000 (2011: HK$335,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the reporting date and had been applied to the
Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for financial
instruments in existence at that date. A 100 basis
points (2011: 100 basis points) increase or decrease
in interest rates represents management’s assessment
of a reasonably possible change in interest rates. The

analysis is performed on the same basis for 2011.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

()

(d)

Commodity price risk

The Group’s exposure to commodity price risk relates
principally to the market price fluctuations in gold and
other by-product commodities, which can affect the

Group’s results of operations.

The Group has not used any commodity derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to commodity price
risk. The Group manages its exposure through constant
monitoring and will consider hedging significant

commodity price exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

The extent of the Group’s credit exposure is
represented by the aggregate balance of cash in
bank, trade and other receivables and deposits.
Cash transactions are limited to high-credit- quality

institutions.

In respect of trade and other receivables, credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These receivables are due
within 0-60 days from the date of billing. Debtors with
balances that are more than 6 months are requested
to settle all outstanding balances before any further
credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain

collateral from customers.

At the reporting date, the Group did not have any
concentration of credit risk as no trade and other
receivables were due from the Group’s largest

customer and the five largest customers respectively.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and
other receivables and prepayment are set out in note
18.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

28. B BB E I ()

(e) Liquidity risk (e) E£FRERR
For the management of the Group’s liquidity risk, the ARERXAEECESRBRAR K&
Group monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash EERRERTEKTIZRERRS
and cash equivalents to finance the Group’s operations LEEH UBNAEE ZEBKRE
and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. RRERERERD 2 HE-BIEE
Management reviews and monitors the Group’s working FHRARERAEE B EEST
capital requirements regularly. e
The following table sets out the remaining contractual TRAJAEBFETESR B ERR
maturities of the Group’s non-derivative financial HEREZHBELER - DHREEH
liabilities at the reporting date, which are based on AR BRERE (BERBAHF R
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest s (NEEBAE ) BBWE B @
payments computed using contractual rates or, if ZHMERFEZFEFKIE) - ARAIEEE
floating, based on the prevailing rates at the reporting KAEENR 2 &EF BEFE
date) and the earliest date the Group can be required to
pay:
2012 2011
ZE-Cf -
Total Total
contractual ~ Within one contractual ~ Within one
Carrying undiscounted ~ yearoron After one Carrying undiscounted ~ year or on After one
amount  cash flow demand year amount  cash flow demand year
GLER ) -£R ANARR —£R
REE REREAE SEER  HB-% FHE ReRnELEE  IEER  BE-E
Trade and other payable  EREHHEH R
EEREER 50,014 50,014 50,014 - 98,450 98,450 98,450 -
Interest-bearing borrowings 5 £ /8 & 20,873 20,873 20,873 - 16,783 16,783 16,783 -
Promissory notes RRER 12,500 12,500 12,500 - 12,500 12,500 12,500 -
Convertible bonds AHRER 15,897 17,558 - 15,897 14,374 17,416 - 14,374
Long-term loans REER - - - 234746 - - - 66,506
99,284 100,945 83,387 250,643 142,107 145,149 127,733 80,880
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited 132
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(f)

(9)

Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital
management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value. To maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the payment of dividends, issue new shares, sell assets

as well as issue new debts or redeem existing debts.

The Group manages its capital structure and make
adjustments to it, in light of cost and risk associated

with the capital and changes in economic conditions.

Fair value estimation

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash
equivalents, bank deposits, trade and other receivables,
and other investment. Financial liabilities include trade
and other payables, interest bearing borrowings,
amounts due to former directors, long-term loans as

well as promissory notes and convertible bonds.

All other significant financial assets and liabilities are
carried at amounts not materially different from their
respective fair values in the consolidated statement
of financial position due to the nature or short-term

maturity of these instruments.
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Besides the directors listed in the note-directors’

remuneration, the Group also identifies below related

parties:

Name Relationship

Ma Qianzhou General manager of Taizhou Mining
Zhao Yuebing Director of Taizhou Mining

Dragon Hill 85% owned by Lee Shing

Development Limited

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements, the following transactions were carried out with

related parties:

(@) Key management compensation
Key management includes directors (executive and
non-executive), members of the Executive Committee,
the Company Secretary. The compensation paid or
payable to key management for employee services is

shown below:

20. BEALRS
BREEHMM AT ZEES AEET
BB TIIREAL

W e BR

S RNt 3 e A8 12
8 45 K AMBEHEE=
ZILER 85%XHE M F WA

BR AR
= &

BRAA

MBREREAMIBEOAWEEIN KE
FEATHETUNTRS:

TEEBAEMSE
TREEABBRATEETRIFNT
EX TR BENRBRARME-
SREERBMENIENETEEEA
BzMeEMNMT

2012 2011
—B-=% —E——f
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Salaries and other short-term e Rk E A5G A
employee benefits EBEH 8,071 8,671
Termination benefits i B2 38 1 - -
Post-employment benefits RKEF = -
Other long-term benefits H th = Hi1R 7 67 54
Total @t 8,138 8,725
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Loans from related parties

=
wi O

2. BEALTRS (&)

(b) BEALTER

B ¥5 ¥R 2R By 5%

2012 2011

—E-C-F —F——F

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FET FHET

At 1 April KREA—H 7,998 -
Currency realignment ME 5, ) B 71 -
Loans borrowed during year FABAZER 63,585 7,838
Loan repaid BEEX = -
Interest accrued JESTFIB 13,409 160
Interest paid B E (678) -
At 31 March R=A=+—8 84,385 7,998

The above loans are from Ms. Zhao Yuebing and

Dragon Hill Development Limited. The accrued interest

of Dragon Hill development Limited has been included

in trade and other payables.
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) Loans from related parties (Continued)
The loans from related parties have the following terms

and conditions:

2. BEALTRS (&)

(b) BAEATER(£E)

B &

AT ERERR K

E3ESINE

TEEBEABRE At beginning
Name of key management % & At end of year of year Interest rate
FR F 14 A=
HK$ 000 HK$’000
THETT THETT
2012 —E——F
Zhao Yuebing RV 77,484 1,838 24%
Dragon Hill Development ‘RILERER QA
Limited 6,901 6,160 5%
2011 —F——F
Zhao Yuebing =K 1,838 nil 4 24%
Dragon Hill Development BILBERFR AT
Limited 6,160 nil & 5%
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30. MATERIAL LITIGATION

As at the date of issuance of this report, the Group has
the following material outstanding litigations, of which
case FSD84/2016 indicates the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group
and its ability to continue as a going concern, the validity of
which depends on the results of the Group’s future funding
plan and debt settlement should the Group be able to
continue as a going concern. Any possible restructuring plan
may change the classification, valuation and disclosures of

items in the consolidated financial statements.

= B
B
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30. E KRR
RAREFZEBE ~AEEE THEEAT
EERFR B ZFFSD84/2016F 7~

FEEATHERR HAGHAKER
HIFBEERNERERER  HEERK
HURNASEBEARKBEFEINEBEEZ
BRMAREEHEBERFELEEER
2) AHIEEEHEM ST EENERE
MBHmERABNNR HEREKE-

Date Court Case No.  Plaintiff Defendant Nature of Claim Status
B RERS R A BE REME 8
(Completed) 2010 HCA1685/2010  Golden Garden Grand T G Gold The plaintiff claimed Paid on 8 November 2011
(BERM)=Z—2F Management Ltd REES $4,561,499 — interest of ERZE——F+—-ANBXH
Promissory Note B
RHEABREREER
4,561,499 T~ H 2B
e
9 March 2011 HCA397/2011 Charm Master The Company The plaintiff claimed the The Company received letters from J. Thomson Asset
Enterprises Limited repayment of promissory Investment Limited and its legal adviser dated 27
notes D & E of an aggregated ~ September 2011 and 30 November 2015 requesting
amount of HK$12,500,000. repayment of the Promissory Notes as beneficial
(the “Promissory Notes’) owner.
Subsequent to the fling of an amended statement of
claim by the plaintiff on 17 October 2011 and the
Company's fiing of an amended defence on 20
Qctober 2011, the plaintiff did not proceed further
with the court action.
5% HCA397/2011  Charm Master NG FSAETERESEA AR A, Thomson Asset Investment Limited R £ %2
ZANR Enterprises Limited 125000003 THALEED BB (FREREAA)NIRERA-Z——ENA
RE([RRZE]): ZTHERZE-RET-AZTEHAE EXE
RAAZR:
REFAE-Z-——EtRTORZLEIRERH
RARAEZE-—ETAZTERZLETAR
o REATRRIE-FEEAD-
137 \  REELSERERAF
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30. MATERIAL LITIGATION (continued) 30. E KRB (47)
Date Court Case No.  Plaintiff Defendant Nature of Claim Status
B RUES R&FA w"E REME k8
20 June 2014 HCA1137/2014  Lee Wing Leung The Company The plaintiff claimed repayment  Both parties agreed to have settlement.
of HK$4,545,729.50
“F-pf HCAT137/2014  %5kR LN RFAEKEE LYl T3 i
~AZTA 4545729508 ¢
21 June 2016 FSD84/2016 Mr. Lau Kin The Company Winding Up Petition The Company has been served with a winding-up
(claim for HK$19 million) petition to the Grand Gourt of the Cayman Islands
(the “Cayman Court’) against the Company (the
“Winding-up Petition’). The petitioning debt stated
in the Winding-up Petition is an alleged sum due to
the petitioner by the Company of HK$19,494,230.43,
comprising HK$16,882,000.00 principal and
nterest of HKS2,612,230.43 as of 3 May 2016. The
petitioner seeks an order for the appointment of joint
official liguidators to the Company.
it Sy FSDe42016  BIB%E ARA e ARARE-BRR SRS R ([REER]) 450
~AZT-R (%(£19,000000%7C) ARtz ER2E ([RE2E)) RR2EMIEL2
EREABRADAGRZEA9404,230438 T
BETEE16882,00000E T REE-F-AF1A
ZHIEZH82612,200438 T BEARERES
REARRZAREREEA
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30. MATERIAL LITIGATION (continuea) 30. E REREA ()
Date Court Case No.  Plaintiff Defendant Nature of Claim Status
A REGES REA wE REME R R
15 March 2017 HCCW 17 Mr. Lee Shing Grand TG Gold  The plaintiff claimed the The plaintiff alleged that the Company is indebted to

repayment of that. him in the sum of HK$18,223,125.50 comprising
(i) @ purported loan of HK$6,925,000.00 assigned
by a former director of the Company to the plaintiff
on 12 April 2010; (i) a loan purportedly provided
by the plaintiff plus interest calculated up to 30
August 2016 of HK$7,019,020.50 in aggregate; and
(i director's emoluments and reimbursements of
HK$4,279,105.00 in aggregate.
R ARZABHCOW 17RHH) REFARR FLAFRAE8,23,15508 7 BE()
B —AARANEEER_T-TEOATZAARF
NEE 2 BIREF6,025, 0000087 : ()RFABR
R ETEREE S E\AZTRZEHT
EAAT019,005057: RiijZEMEREMA £
4,279,105.00 7 °

“E—+E HCCW 17 i AEES
ZAt1A

31. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 1. #HLEM B ®RK

The financial statements were approved by the board of

AMBHRERER _T—LF A+ BE

directors and authorised for issue on 16 February 2017. EEGHERIBTET -
139  AEESERARAR
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Five-Year Financial Summary

DhFRIFSIi 2
For the year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1-HLEFE
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
—ZENE  ZTTAE %% 2% ZB-Zf
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FET SRV FHT TER
RESULTS E4
CONTINUING OPERATION FELEXK
Revenue U zs 250,903 124,436 100,213 - =
(Loss)/profit before tax BBA (B8B)/&5F (11,978) (94,793) 414 (1,486,813) (64,494)
Income tax (expenses)/credit MR (RY) /B% 342 (410) (16,283) 18,926 =
(Loss)/profit for the year from RERBELEEBH
continuing operation FE (BR)/ &7 (11,636) (95,208) (15,869)  (1,467,887) (64,494)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BRIEQEER
(Loss)/profit for the year from REBRIELEER
discontinued operation MEE (BB)/
bkl - - (7,353) - -
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(EB)/HH (11,636) (95,203) (23,222) (1,467,887) (64,494)
Attributable to; AT & e
Equity holders of the Company AAAERFEEA (11,636) (92,479) (36,529)  (1,469,476) (54,970)
Non-controlling interests iR - (2,724) 13,307 1,589 (9,524)
(11,636) (95,203) (23,222)  (1,467,887) (64,494)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAEE
At 31 March
R=ZA=+-H
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
“FEN\F ZFTAF  ZT-FF ZF—% ZB-CF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FET FE T TER
Total assets BEE 171,723 1,629,525 1,791,960 455,490 538,182
Total liabilities BERE (16,059) (690,973) (238,662) (221,877) (356,037)
Total equity B 155,664 938,552 1,553,298 233,613 182,145
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
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